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#ReBankaEaBasotho

Our prosperity and milestones are 
because of the under-banked and 
unbanked we serve.

Lesotho PostBank
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The Bank adopted the integrated reporting approach in 2019, in consonance with the <IR> 
framework recommended by the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). With this second 
report, we intend to communicate our value creation process accountably, transparently, and 
coherently to our stakeholders.  To this end, the report describes our strategy and business model 
considering the financial and non-financial capitals in our internal and external environments. The 
report covers the 12-month period that ended in December 2020. It entails material information 
in relation to our strategy, business model, material risks, governance structures, stakeholder 
interests, financial and non-financial reporting.

Materiality and Connectivity 

Materiality is determined by substantial impact on the value creation process, occurring over the 
short, medium, and long-term. In view of connectivity the Bank remains alive to the onus to identify, 
evaluate, and prioritize issues that bear upon its value creation process. A keen awareness of the 
triple context such as the economy, society, and the environment, in which the Bank operates 
forms the guiding light for the Bank’s activities. Consequently, financial soundness, compliance 
with regulatory obligations, corporate social responsibility, and environmental sustainability are 
key considerations in their connected impact across our six capitals as will be seen in this report. 
This approach is paired with a watchful eye over risks, emerging opportunities and threats.  

Six capitals

Human capital

Natural capitalIntellectual capital

Manufacturing capitalFinancial capital

Social capital

The Materiality Determination Process

Identify material 
issues that 
significantly 
impact our value 
creation and 
sustainability

Ranking of issues 
according 
to relevance to 
operational
 context

Operationalize 
strategic
direction and 
targets. 

Assess relevance 
to strategic 
direction 

About Our Integrated Report

MEETING
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Gross income Finance costs Net interest
income

Income Credit
impairements

Operating
costs

PBT

176 926

25 368

145 558

187 277

5 468

68 597
72 689

60 980

76%

PBT M’000

Budget

Actual

80 661
60 980

Achieved PBT

PBT Trend and Forecast

Deposits

Income Statement as at 31st December 2020

Financial Highlights

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

4 497

17 401
6 467

53 738

91 737

72 821
60 980

PBT M’000

73 787

65 854 70 844

76 099
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          M’000
Budget                               1 855 701
Actual                                 1  813 423

98%

Achieved Balance Sheet growth

Key Assets Portfolio

Intangible Assets
Loan And Advances
Treasury Bills And Bonds
Cash And Cash Equivalents

Equity And Reserves Profile

Share Capital
Reserves
Retained Income

Liablities Portfolio

Trade And other Payables
Capital Grant
Deposits

30% 51% 15%

29% 54%

2020

2019

76% 12% 11%

72% 15% 13%

2020

2019

93% 5% 2%

90% 8% 2%

2020

2019

Balance Sheet Summary as at 31st December 2020



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

8

For ages, the Government of Lesotho (GoL) realised the economic and financial challenges for 
the unbanked and underbanked populace. Therefore, the Cabinet resolved to establish a retail 
bank that would provide solutions for access to affordable credit, financial inclusion and literacy 
while promoting corporate social responsibility activities.  To achieve this mandate, Lesotho 
PostBank was incorporated in 2004 under the Companies Act of 1967, and re-registered under 
the Companies Act of 2011. 

Corporate Statements 

Our Mandate is mainly to serve unbanked and under banked economically active urban and rural 
population who do not have access to financial services in a sustainable manner.  

Our Vision is to be a financially viable retail bank, committed to improving the quality of life for 
Basotho and to exceed stakeholders’ expectations.  

Our Mission is to transform the living standard of our nation through customer-centric financial 
services and innovation that result in economic growth. 

Our Motto is Affordable, Accessible, Anytime.

Serving the 
unbanked & 
under-banked 

Organizational Overview
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Our Values

Customer First: We place the customer’s interests first and act sincerely in protecting their 
interests. 

Teamwork: We commit to interact actively and complement each other for collective success to 
build synergies. 
 
Accountability: We accept responsibility for our actions, execute our work diligently and in a 
transparent manner. 

Professionalism: We always behave with dignity, show respect and courtesy to all our stakeholders, 
and comply with applicable rules, regulations, and professional standards.

Integrity: We commit to interact actively, with honesty, candour, fair dealing, and truthfulness in 
all business affairs. 

Competence: We acknowledge the need to attain and maintain requisite knowledge, skills, and 
abilities for rendering excellent customer service. 

Innovation: We encourage and reward creativity for ideas that make a difference in our customers’ 
and employees’ lives. 

The above values define the Bank’s culture, which is the crux of staff performance and customer 
satisfaction. Surveys are used to monitor adoption of the values. Notably, Management resolved 
to streamline LPB’s values to four core values: Customer First, Innovation, Professionalism, and 
Teamwork. Going forward, these values will form the ethos at the nub of the Bank’s performance.

Our Operating Model

• Retail Banking 
• Business Banking 
• Wholesale Banking

• Electronic Banking 
• Credit 
• Marketing

• Operations 
• Finance 
• Human Capital
• Strategy Planning, Monitoring, 
    and Evaluation

• Risk 
• Compliance 
• Legal & Governance 
• Internal Audit

Sales
Cluster

Support
Cluster

Risk
Cluster

The Sales Cluster focuses 
on revenue  generation 
through providing the 
Bank’s services 
and products to 
customers.

The Support Cluster 
offers bank-wide 
assistance to staff
in all clusters.

The Risk cluster 
coordinates bank-wide 
risk management, 
balancing the business 
and risk imperatives.

Accelerator

Clutch

Brakes
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Our products and services

We have deep market knowledge of our customer segment and can adequately deliver 
responsive, and affordable products. We are committed to provide excellent and flexible 
services to our clients. 

Our customers felt this more meaningfully in our support during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
While the English say that “A friend in need is a friend indeed,” We showed our customers that 
the bank in need is a bank indeed. We offered adaptive products and services that included 
reduced interest rates and payment holidays to stand shoulder-to-shoulder with our customers 
through the COVID-19 onslaught. 

Generally, our offering includes transactional accounts using various transacting platforms and 
channels savings,  investments as well as loans and advances. In 2019, we introduced mobile 
money and agency banking mainly targeted at extending financial services to the unbanked. 
In 2020, we reviewed and rationalised our products to effectively respond to customers’ 
changing needs. 

Our Channels

The Bank had two agencies and fifteen branches across the country. Amongst these, six 
branches and one agency are in the highlands where financial services are limited. This is 
pursuant to our motto and mandate to increase financial inclusion in rural regions. The Bank 
had three hundred and seventy-eight (378) POS devices serving customers through a network 
of merchants and agents. In 2021, we aim to broaden our network of distribution channels.  

Significant Projects

In 2020, the Bank continued its Europay Mastercard Visa (EMV) enablement project. Completion 
of this project will capacitate our debit cards and infrastructure for interoperability. This year, 
the major EMV enablement achievements centred around significant procurements for the 
project. These included ATM software upgrades, completing the Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standard (PCI DSS), securing a third party processor (TPP), and securing an Anti-
Money Laundering (AML) system that assists with full customer assessment.  

The Bank experienced challenges regarding compliance with some of the EMV requirements, 
which included securing an authorized dealer’s licence and a settlement account. The Bank is 
working tirelessly to comply with all requirements in order to bring the project to the finish 
line.  

External Environment 

Around March, the Government of Lesotho issued the DECLARATION OF COVID-19 STATE 
OF EMERGENCY NOTICE, 2020 and effected a national lockdown. Whilst essential service 
businesses such as grocery stores, health service providers, and banks were allowed to operate 
for limited trading hours and with a partial staff complement per day, they also struggled to 
draw a clear picture of what the future would bring in dealing with the voracious virus that had 
enveloped the world with fear. The rest of 2020 was characterized by a series of lockdowns 
with varying degrees of restriction that were enforced through a colour-coded guideline.

According to the World Bank, in 2020, Lesotho’s economic growth contracted by 1.8% 
in the 1st quarter and experienced a drastic 15.2% contraction in the 2nd quarter as a 
consequence of COVID-19. Our economy experienced a 5.1% to 5.2% contraction (AfDB 
and UNDP), which was seen in the devastation laid upon businesses.  
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Dear Shareholder,

We humbly present the Integrated Report of the Bank 
for 2020. 

The year 2020 has been tumultuous. I would like to thank 
everyone within Lesotho PostBank for showing the 
remarkable adaptability and resilience in continuing to 
perform to the best of their abilities in the most testing 
12 months in our history. It really is massively appreciated. 
While the COVID-19 pandemic has had many evident 
downsides, we are pleased that the Bank’s employees 
survived the pandemic, and none lost their jobs.

Our Bank has undergone a transformative journey to align 
itself with modern banking and bolster its competitiveness. 

The depiction below tells our story of transformation and 
business turnaround:

Chairman’s Statement

“COVID-19 e ntse ele teng. Tsoela pele ho roala semonkoana sa hau le ho 
ikobela melaoana e khothalelitsoeng ke WHO”

2005 - 2008

Full Banking Licence 
• Personal Loans
• Debit cards & ATMs

2009 - 2013
The Growth Strategy
• Further restructuring
• Dedicated strategy  
• Mandate includes    CSR
• System upgrade
• Digital channels
• Performance reward

2014 - 20215
• Book-based Savings
• Core banking system
• Branch expansion

2016 - 2018

Risk &Compliance
•Restructure
•Risk management
•Strengthen credit
•First profit

2019 - 2021

The Growth Strategy
• Digital financial services  | • Interoperability
• Expansion of channels | • Incentives
• Customer segmentation & portfolio management
• Organisational clusters | • Product rationalisation
• Agricultural Financing  | • Bank Funding

Our Bank’s Journey



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

12

Corporate Social Responsibility

LPB continued to support various sectors, despite the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak. These 
sectors included Micro, Small and Medium Business, Education, Agriculture, Environmental, 
Health and Vulnerable Communities. Our socio-economic assistance included the purchase of 
livestock medicines for farmers. Our assistance to young women included donation of sanitary 
towels to assist those in need. Notably, SMMEs were assisted with interest-free funding to 
the tune of M100, 000.00 to assist their businesses to survive through the pandemic. The 
estimated CSI spending for 2020 was M500, 000.00.

Corporate  Social  
Responsibility

Challenges

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been felt by Lesotho PostBank, as it has across the 
world, which has necessitated a new approach to the way we all work. The safety and wellbeing 
of our staff and clients was our main priority. Our back-office staff teleworked on a rotational 
basis, but with remarkable commitment. We had to ensure we were in a strong position 
financially, both for the short term and to take advantage of the longer-term opportunities.  
With the significant continued uncertainty, the Board took the difficult decision to exercise 
caution. 

COVID-19 

COVID-19 posed a challenge for face-to-face Board meetings, as well as Board sub-committee, 
EXCO, and EXCO sub-committee meetings. Notwithstanding, the Bank adapted to the 
circumstances and continued to hold meetings virtually for sound governance.
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Governance

During the past 12 months, the Board has had to be very flexible, with meetings scheduled 
at short notice and held online, but with the considerable commitment and adaptability. My 
thanks go to my fellow Board members. I firmly believe that the Board has demonstrated 
a strong foundation of governance at its core and as Chairman I feel fortunate in having 
dedicated colleagues as we face these challenges. 

#ReBankaEaBasotho

Future landscape

Lesotho PostBank continues to work hard towards finalization of the Europay, Mastercard, 
and Visa project, which is meant to put us at a competitive level with our peers in the market.
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Governance aims to ensure 
adherence to governance 
policies, structures and processes 
with applicable regulation and 
codes of conduct and to ensure 
corporate sustainability. This is 
achieved by:

• Adapting to change in the scope of the 
Governance for improved decision-making and 
better risk mitigation.

• Diversifying the independence of opinion in the 
board, with the aim of ensuring comprehensive 
decision making.

• Management’s encouragement, sustenance, and 
adherence to the Bank values.

• Increasing accountability, competence, integrity 
and transparency by Management and the Board. 

• Effective risk controls and management in 
decision-making.

Governance proposes an annual meeting schedule, keeps a register of meetings, reviews policies 
and processes regularly to ensure that they are relevant and we trim processes that cause backlogs.

Governance : Driving sound administration 

The Board of Directors 

The Lesotho PostBank Board of Directors composition increased from 8 members to 10 members. 
This increase is attributed to the appointment of two executive directors i.e. the Chief Operations 
Officer (Mr Mahase Mahooana) and the Chief Finance Officer (Mrs ̀ Makatleho Morake). This move 
has improved the balance between executive and non-executive interests. It has also improved 
the Board’s diversity, experience, skills, age, and gender. 

The Board approved adoption of integrated reporting in consonance with the International 
Integrated Reporting Council’s <IR> Framework. This move envisages enhancing reporting to 
stakeholders on how the Bank is harnessing its six capitals for value creation. 

Executive Directors 

As at end of 2020, the Bank had a board structure of 6:4, with six (6) non-executive directors 
and four (4) executive directors. Mr. Mahase Mahooana (the Chief Operating Officer) and 
Mrs. Makatleho Morake (the Chief Finance Officer) were appointed to the board as executive 
directors. The Bank currently has no independent non-executive director and the next chapter in 
our governance progress is to include independent non-executive directors in the Board.
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Our
Board Members
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Adv. Mampe Matela-Mphana 
Qualification: LLB, MDP
Tenure: 1 year, 4 months

Skilled in Legal, compliance, 
and corporate governance with 
experience in the banking and 
retail sector. 

Committees: GOVCO and FCC

Mr. Lejone Mpotjane 
Qualification:
B.Com Accounting
Tenure: 1 year, ten months

Skilled in risk management, 
strategic management, and 
corporate governance.

Committees: ARCCO and 
GOVCO

Mr. Robert Likhang 
Qualification:
Chartered Management 
Accountant (CIMA)
Tenure: 1 year, 3 months

Skilled in accounting, finance, 
and corporate governance with 
experience across banking, 
enterprise development and ICT.

Committees: FCC and BITCO

 
Skills and Experience: Mr. Mokotjo has over 30 years of experience working in the Government 
of Lesotho at different positions from Directorship to Principal Secretary. He led various 
Government Ministries which include; Agriculture and Food Security, Planning and Economic 
Development, Trade and Industry, Employment and Labour, Home Affairs, Public Safety, and 
Chieftainship Affairs. He recently participated in the Digital Migration Project spearheaded by 
the Ministry of Communications, Science and Technology. He was the Ambassador of Lesotho to 
the People’s Republic of China from 1999 to 2016. He has attended different training programs 
which include Corporate Governance, IT Governance, International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and Economics of Regulation. He holds an M.A. in Economics from Washington State University 
and a B.A. Economics from the National University of Lesotho.

Mr. Lefa Mokotjo
Chairperson 
(B.A. Econ., M.A.Econ.)  
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Mrs. ‘Makatleho Martha 
Morake 
Qualification:
MBA, Chartered Accountant 
(ACCA)
Tenure: 1 month

Skilled in Accounting and 
Finance with more than 20 
years of experience in various 
industries.

Mr. Mahase Mahooana 
Qualification: 
BA Computer Science
Tenure: 1 month

Skilled in systems administration 
and business applications 
support across banking and 
telecommunications with more 
than 22 years of experience.

Adv. Rets’elisitsoe Makara 
Qualification
LLB
Tenure: 10 months

Skilled in Legal, compliance, 
and corporate governance 
with more than 11 years of 
experience.

Mr. Moahloli Sekhants’o 
( Deceased ) 
Qualification: BA Economics
Tenure: 1 month

Skilled in banking, 
investment management, 
and risk management with 
over 12 years of banking 
experience.

Committees: FCC and 
ARCCO

Mr.Rankobane Mathule 
Qualification
MSc. Electronic Engineering
Tenure: 1 year, 3 months

Skilled in IT, electronic 
engineering, 
telecommunications, and 
project management. 

Committees: BITCO 
and ARCCO

Mr. Molefi Leqhaoe 
Qualification:
MBA and FCIS
Tenure: 4 years, 2 months

Skilled in strategic 
management, corporate 
governance, business rescue, 
risk management, and 
business continuity with over 
20 years of experience in 
banking.
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Independence of our directors  

The Board notes that the qualifications, experience, personal characteristics and integrity 
of the independent non-executive directors, together with the fact that they have no 
contractual, consulting or family relationships with the Bank, are not representatives of any 
major institutional shareholders of the Bank, are not financially dependent on the fees they 
earn as non-executive directors of the Bank, are not participants in the Bank’s share and/or 
other incentive schemes and are not involved in external charities that benefit from donations 
by the Bank and other relevant considerations, ensure that their judgement in relation to 
Bank matters is exercised independently and in an unfettered manner.

Board appointments 

Board of Directors are appointed by the shareholders in a formal and transparent manner at 
the Annual General Meeting (AGM) thus suitable candidates are considered and nominated 
for appointment taking into account the skills set, diversity of current board members as 
well as business requirements. 

 Board Age Diversity

In 2019, there was a concentration of 43% 
for the 41-50 age bracket. Comparatively, 
age diversity is distributed more reasonably 
this year. 

Even so, there is a need for more Board 
Members in the 31-40 age range to ensure 
succession planning and continuity within 
the Board. 

The Board and its Sub-Committees

As the governing body, the Board has the ultimate responsibility regarding risk oversight. To 
this end, the Board has sub-committees that are tasked with oversight of risks.  
The Governance Committee (GOVCO) monitors and reports to the Board on risks arising from 
and associated with the corporate governance requirements, ethics, and human resource 
management.  The Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee (ARCCO) develops risk mitigation 
strategies to ensure that the Bank manages risk in an optimum manner and plays an oversight 
role over assurance reports published by Internal Audit. 

Board Gender Diversity

Our Board is more diverse than it was in the previous year of 2019, making 
progress from 14% female membership to 20%. However, additional female 
members are required to diversify the Board even further.

80%      20%

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

1. Lefa Mokotjo

2. 'Mathakane Mathafeng

3. Robert Likhang

4. Rankobane Mathule

5. 'Mampe Matela Mphana

6. Molefi Leqhaoe

7. 'Makatleho Martha Morake

8. Mahase Mahooana

9. Lejone Mpotjoana

10. Moahloli Sekhants'o

AGE 
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The Finance and Credit Committee (FCC) approves credit policy and credit risk appetite, oversees 
treasury functions as well as financial reporting’s compliance with financial reporting standards. 
The Board-Information Technology Committee (BITCO) evaluates the Bank’s IT strategy and 
critically review the progress of the major IT related projects and technology architecture 
decisions.

Director Board FCC BITCO GOVCO ARCCO NED 
MEETINGS

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Lefa Mokotjo 12/15 - 3/4 4/4 - 2/2 1/1

Robert Likhang 15/15 10/10 4/4 - 1/8 2/2 1/1

Lejone Mpotjoane 14/15 1/10 - 3/3 8/8 2/2 1/1

Rankobane Mathule 14/15 1/10 4/4 - 7/8 2/2 1/1

Moahloli Sekhantso 15/15 10/10 - - 8/8 2/2 1/1

Mampe Matela-Mphana 15/15 10/10 - 4/4 1/8 2/2 0/1

Molefi Leqhaoe 15/15 - - - - - 1/1

Mahooana Mahase 11/15 - - - - - -

Makatleho Morake 12/15 - - - - - -
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• To recommend for approval to the Board, the sales, Corporate Social Responsibility, and 
marketing strategy. 

• To play oversight on the implementation of the approved Sales, Corporate Social Responsibility 
and Marketing Strategy. 

• To assess and monitor the impact of the Bank’s activities on the reputation of the Bank. 

• To ensure unified branding and image of the Bank. 

• To act in an advisory capacity in respect to strategies for community outreach with emphasis 
on corporate social responsibility through branding and marketing. 

• To review the Bank’s Capital Management plan and Liquidity Management Plan at least 
annually and advice the Board on the proposed changes on the plans if there are any.

• To approve and advice the Board of Directors on the appropriate investment policy.

• To approve the investment proposals and investment limits with the Counterparties and advice 
the Board on whether the proposals were viable or not.

• To review on a quarterly basis, reports on investment performance and outlook in order to 
make appropriate recommendations to the Board of Directors.

• To approve, where necessary, appointment of external investment advisors to the Bank. 
The procurement of the external investment advisors shall be done through the office of the 
Corporate Secretary and / or office of the managing Director.

Chairman:
Moahloli Sekhantso

Other Committee members:
Robert Likhang
Mampe Matela-Mphana

Finance and Credit 
Committee (FCC)

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES 

The directors have delegated specific responsibilities to committees to assist the board in 
meeting its oversight responsibilities. The committees, which operate in terms of written 
charters and whose chairmen report at each board meeting, are as follows:
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• Approve any non-audit services to be rendered by the external auditors to avoid material 
conflicts of interest.

• Consider whether the extent of reliance placed on internal audit is appropriate and that no 
significant gaps in audit assurance exist between internal and external audit.

• Track and monitoring unresolved internal and external audit findings and recommendations.

• Review published financial statements and reporting for proper and complete disclosure of 
timely, reliable, and consistent information and confirm that the accounting policies used are 
appropriate; particularly review the annual financial statements before submission to the Board.

• Monitor the progress of any proposed changes to Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(“GAAP”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) that will or may have impact 
upon the Bank and ensure that adequate measures are put in place to prepare for the Bank’s 
adoption thereof and adhere thereto.

• Evaluate on an on-going basis, the appropriateness, adequacy and efficacy of the Bank’s 
accounting policies and procedures, compliance with GAAP, and overall accounting standard.

• Monitor that proper tax planning is in place within the Bank.

• Review and ensure that adequate performance measurement methodology is implemented, 
and reporting provided.

• Review and monitor that capital expenditure throughout the Bank is adequately budgeted, 
controlled, monitored, and reported on regularly.

Chairman:
 Lejone Mpotjoane

Other Committee members:

Rankobane Mathule

Moahloli Sekhantso

Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee (ARCCO)
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• Ensure that the Bank has an appropriate and competitive remuneration policy.

• Ensure that there is a remuneration and / salary scale that will attract, motivate, and retain 
competent staff.

• All changes to remuneration are properly investigated and benchmarked.

• Sets the parameters for annual and other salary increases, for all other levels of staff.

• To ensure that there is development and implementation of a competitive human resources 
strategy to ensure that the company can attract, retain, and develop the best possible talent

• To ensure that there is an organizational structure and succession plan thereof.

• To ensure that there is an appropriate criterion for the identification and nomination of 
prospective board members.

• Determine and evaluate the adequacy, efficiency and appropriateness of the corporate 
governance structure and practices.

• Assist, evaluate and advise the board on issues of a fundamental strategic importance to the 
bank that are beyond the scope of the specific authorities mandated to the other board members.

• Act as a sounding board for issues proposed by management that are material to the Bank’s 
strategies and objectives.

• Regularly assess the conduct and competence of directors and board committees and assist the 
board in determining whether the services of any director should be terminated.

Chairman:
Mampe Matela-Mphana

Other Committee members:
Lefa Mokotjo
Lejone Mpotjoane

Governance Committee
(GOVCO)
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• Evaluate the Company’s IT strategy and policies for Board approval. The review shall be on 
the financial, tactical, and strategic benefit of the proposed major IT related projects and 
technology architecture alternatives.

• Critically review the progress of the major IT related projects and technology architecture 
decisions.

• Discuss IT costs and internal processes for approval of approval of major IT related capital 
expenditure.

• Make recommendation to the Board of Directors with respect to IT related projects and 
investments that require Board approval.

• Monitor the quality and effectiveness of the Company’s IT security.

• The BITCO shall stay informed with new technologies, applications and systems that relate to 
and/or affect the Company’s IT strategy.

• Evaluate and recommend for approval by the Board, the Project Management Policies and 
Frameworks.

• BITCO shall evaluate and approve strategic projects which cost = / < M 1 million. The 
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the project as approved.

Chairman: 
Rankobane Mathule 

Other Committee members:
Lefa Mokotjo
Robert Likhang 

Board, Information Technology 
Committee (BITCO)
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External Auditor Rotation

Sheeran and Associates, who had been appointed as the Bank’s external auditors for the past 
2 three-year terms were replaced by Moteane, Quashie and Associates in 2020.

ETHICS AND WHISTLE-BLOWING ETHICS 

The code of conduct that provides a guideline of the standards professional conduct of 
employees and the Bank expectations was approved and cascaded down to staff. 

 A survey on ethics and conduct was conducted for all the Bank staff for this reporting 
period. The intention of the survey was to determine the ethical culture within the Bank 
which would provide the right direction in improving and managing a good corporate 
culture.

Whistleblowing  

The Bank has provided three contact details for all its employees and customers to report 
any misconduct. Two are internal numbers while one is an external number. Employees 
are expected to have best interest of the Bank hence should blow the whistle on any 
misconducts committed. 
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)

Mr. Mahase Mahooana- Chief Operations Officer

Mr. Mahooana is a Computer Science Graduate with over 22 
years of experience as an IT professional in the banking and 
telecommunications industries. His professional experience 
extends over the borders of Lesotho, having worked in 
Europe for more than 6 years.

He is a certified Oracle Professional with solid experience 
in database administration, systems administration, 
business applications support, and development. He was 
the Applications Manager for Econet-Telecom Lesotho, 
implementing and supporting information systems ranging 
from ERP, mobile wallet, mobile insurance, services 
provisioning prior to joining Lesotho PostBank. Mr Mahooana 
currently holds a Chief Operations Officer position within 
Lesotho PostBank.

Mr. Molefi Leqhaoe, the Managing Director of Lesotho PostBank, holds Postgraduate Diploma in 
Strategic Management & Corporate Governance and Master of Business Administration. He is a 
Certified Expert Negotiator and Certified Rescue Analyst. Mr. Leqhaoe is a Fellowship Member of 
the Chartered Governance Institued of Southern Africa, an international institution dealing with 
Corporate Governance. 

He is also a Fellowship Member of the Institute of Chartered Business Managers. With over 20 
years of banking experience, he worked in various functions within the banking sector ranging 
from operations to business banking departments. He gained his experience from different 
organizations, namely; Lesotho Bank, Standard Lesotho Bank, First National Bank and Econet 
Lesotho. He is an exceptional strategist, highly skilled and knowledgeable in the banking industry. 
This visionary possesses a degree of ability in mentorship and coaching with particular emphasis 
on Ethical Leadership, Strategy, Corporate Governance, Business Continuity, Risk Management, 
Structured Deals, Business Rescue, and Re-organisation amongst others.

Mr. Molefi Leqhaoe
Managing Director 

(FCIS, FCIBM, CBCI, PGDip. in Strategic 
Management & Corporate Governance, 
Certified Expert Negotiator, MBA)
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Mrs. ‘Makatleho Martha Morake- Chief Financial Officer

Mrs. Morake is a qualified Chartered Accountant and holds 
an MBA   qualification from the University of the Free State. 
She participated in implementation of IFRS 9 for Lesotho 
PostBank and attended various workshops which include: 
International Financial Reporting Standards, Integrated 
Thinking and Reporting, BASEL II, III and ICAAP. Mrs. Morake 
is a member of the Lesotho Institute of Accountants, a 
Chartered Accountant in Practice.

She has more than 20 years of work experience in different 
industries. She is currently the Chief Financial Officer of 
Lesotho PostBank, responsible for management and planning 
of the Banks’ financial resources. Prior to joining Lesotho 
PostBank, she worked as the Financial Controller at Lesotho 
Flour Mills. 

Advocate Retselisitsoe Makara- Chief Legal Officer

Adv. Makara holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
National University of Lesotho. He has enrolled for several 
short courses ranging from governance, strategy and 
leadership. It is worth indicating that, he is currently studying 
towards the Chartered Governance Practitioner qualification 
with the Chartered Governance Institute of Southern Africa. 
He has 11 years of experience spanning litigation, debt 
collection, contract management, compliance, and corporate 
governance.

Adv. Makara is also a member of the Compliance Institute 
of Southern Africa. His previous roles include working with 
several law firms in Maseru before joining Legal Voice as a 
Senior Legal Advisor. He later became a Debt Collections 
and Rehabilitation Officer within the Credit Department 
of the Lesotho Postbank before moving to Compliance. His 
corporate journey has culminated an appointment Chief 
Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary in 2019. 
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Ms. ‘Mathabo Lebohang Tshehlo - Chief Sales Officer  

Ms. Tshehlo has over Seventeen years of banking experience  
gained from various functions; retail, business, and corporate 
banking. She is responsible for ensuring the team achieves 
profitability, target growth and meets sales revenue targets.

She started her career at Lesotho PostBank in 2005, later 
joined First National Bank Lesotho for four years where she 
managed various branches. In 2016 she came back to Lesotho 
PostBank where she holds Chief Sales Officer position. She 
has Diploma in Accountancy and pursuing leadership courses. 

Ms. Mathabo Tshehlo has a strong business acumen.  This is 
reflected in her ability to envision what should be done to 
bring about a more profitable, successful future within the 
sales cluster. Her quality of sight boosts her confidence to 
consistently lead and execute her functions meticulously. 

Ms Ntolo Letele - Chief Audit Executive  

Ms. Letele holds a BCom Accounting Degree from the 
University of Port Elizabeth and a Diploma in Management 
Accounting from Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants (CIMA). She signed off her articles with South 
African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) and is a 
member of Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA), Information 
Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA), as well as 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA).

Ms. Letele joined Lesotho PostBank as Chief Audit Executive in 
2016. She has 17 years of experience, 13 of which have been in 
the financial services sector. Her experience includes internal 
audit, external audit, governance, risk, and compliance. She 
worked at Moores Rowland, Price Waterhouse Coopers 
(PWC), Auditor General of South Africa (AGSA), Momentum, 
and FirstRand Bank Group.
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Mrs. Mamohau Mapota - Head of E-Channels

`Mamohau Mapota has a graduate diploma in Sales and 
Marketing from IMM Graduate School. She has more than 
31 years working experience in Sales in local and RSA 
Corporates. This experience extends into Banking, FMCG, 
Financial inclusion, and mobile money. Notably, she was the 
first to manage Mobile Money industry in Lesotho.

She has championed Lesotho PostBank’s digital channels to 
grow its mobile money and mobile banking offering. Uniquely, 
she takes charge of the only mobile money offering by a bank 
in our country, which is a previously uncharted territory in our 
country.
 

Mr. Nare Matsoha - Head of Wholesale Banking

Nare Matsoha is an MBA (Finance) Candidate who holds 
a Postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration. His 
undergraduate qualification is a BA Economics with a minor in 
Statistics. He has undergone Registered Person Examinations 
(RPE) with South African Institute of Financial Markets. 
Moreover, in pursuit of continuous professional development 
throughout his career, he has undertaken several short 
courses including Compliance Management with UCT and 
Strategic Leadership with the prestigious Gordon Institute of 
Business Science (GIBS). 

He has over 16 years of experience in the banking industry, 
with more than a decade of experience in treasury and 
balance sheet management. Nare has superb local and 
regional (SADC) level experience dealing with payment 
systems, which culminated in a Vice-Chairperson seat on the 
SADC Payment System Management Body (SADC-PSMB).
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Mrs. ‘Mabakoena Nkeleli Thamae – Chief Credit Officer

Prior to joining LPB, Mrs Thamae gained crucial banking 
experience at First National Bank – Lesotho as the Business 
Banking Manager from 2012 – 2014. She completed the 
Chartered Accountant – Lesotho stage (ACCA) in 2012 and 
the Bachelor of Science in 2005.

Mrs Thamae has been appointed as Chief Credit Officer of 
Lesotho PostBank (LPB) from August 2020 to date and has 
been extensively involved in credit risk management, lending 
to different socioeconomic sectors and segments, and 
formulating the bank’s credit policy and credit strategy. She 
has been with LPB for over seven years. She led the project 
scope and parameterisation streams during the Core Banking 
System Upgrade Project from 2016 – 2017. 

 

Mr Molefi Khama – Chief Risk Officer

He holds a BCom Banking degree from the University of 
Pretoria. He has further qualified with the Institute of Bankers 
in South Africa. He has about 30 years of continuous banking 
experience. His knowledge ranges across credit evaluation 
and management, credit governance and risk management.

His areas of work in the banking environment have included 
branch operations, retail banking, business banking, 
corporate banking and credit department. His banking 
experience ranges from junior positions, middle as well as 
senior management. 

Further, he is a member of the Institute of Bankers in South 
Africa.
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Mr Moiloa Moiloa - Head Human Capital Trainee

Mr. Moiloa holds a degree in Development Studies and 
Sociology, and is undertaking a Postgraduate Diploma in 
Organizational Development. He is a member of the Institute 
of People Management (IPM) and has taken several short 
courses including courses in HR Processes, Culture and 
Change Management. 

Mr Moiloa has 16 years of experience in the Human Resources 
cadre, 8 years of which are in the banking industry, and 5 
years in managerial roles.

 

Advocate Molise Ramaili - Chief Compliance Officer

Adv. Molise Ramaili holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
National University of Lesotho. In addition, he has undergone 
Business Leadership training at the prestigious Gordon 
Institute of Business Science (GIBS). 

He is diversely skilled in legal, compliance, corporate 
governance, and operations management. He has held 
various positions, starting out his career as a Legal Officer 
at the Water and Sewerage Company (WASCO), then 
becoming a Senior Specialist: Legal & Contracts Management 
at Vodacom Lesotho. He has also served as Head of Legal 
& Compliance and Company Secretary at FNB Lesotho. He 
has also held positions as the Chief Operations Officer at 
Letshego Financial Services and held the Chief Operations 
Officer position at Lesotho PostBank.
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Assets and Liabilities 
Committee 

Credit 
Committee

Finance 
Committee

Procurement and 
Tender Committee

Objectives

• To ensure corporate governance of 
interest rate risk and liquidity risk within LPB.                                       

• To oversee and attend to all pricing and 
products matters.                                                                                            

• To set and agree on the risk portfolio and 
liability thereof.                                                                                            

• To determine and oversee the management 
of funding requirements of the Bank .                                       

• To recommend all policies and practices 
relating to the interest rate risk, liquidity risk 
and capital risk for approval for the Board.

Objectives

• To manage the total Credit 
Portfolio of Lesotho PostBank.

Objectives

• To discuss the monthly 
management accounts 
produced by the Bank for 
cost control and purpose 
cost cutting measures and 
to ensure that the reported 
figures are duly supported 
by reconciliations to 
ensure integrity of the said 
management accounts.

Objectives

• To assist EXCO in 
fulfilling its procurement 
responsibilities.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To identify, measure, monitor and mitigate 
financial risks.                                                                      

• To approve new products and services and 
their relevant pricing.                                                    

• To manage the balance sheet of the Bank 
and ensure that the Bank and ensure that the 
Bank is in a position to meet all future cash 
flow commitments at a reasonable price or in 
extreme situations at appropriate pricing.                                                                                                             

• To ensure contingency funding 
plan is in place for implementation 
under liquidity stress situations.                                                                                                                                      
                                                   

• Ensure there is sufficient capital to meet 
the minimum capital adequacy requirements 
as set by the Central Bank of Lesotho.

Duties and
 Responsibilities

• Spearheading the adoption 
of the Lesotho PostBank 
Credit Policy.                                                                

• Ensuring that there is 
an established loan review 
system which identifies risk, 
assures the adequacy of the 
provisioning of doubtful 
borrowing and properly 
reflects such results in the 
LPB financial statements.                                                                                                                                      
              

• Reassess the loan review 
system on a regular basis in the 
light of current circumstances 
and shall be submitted to the 
Board at least once a year for 
their review and approval                                                                                      

• Review the quality and 
collectability of all loan 
portfolios including any 
accrued and unpaid interest.                                                                                                                                        
                         

• To ensure that LPB 
operates within sound and 
well-defined board approved 
Credit policy guidelines.                                                                                                                                      
                           

• To ensure that the credit 
activities for exposure are 
subject to adequate internal 
controls and appropriate 
internal audit coverage.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To review management 
accounts for 
recommendation of 
adoption to the EXCO.                                                                                                                                     

• Review the finance 
policies and processes.                                                                                                    

• Monitor the integrity of 
the financial statements 
and review significant 
financial issues.                                                                                                                                          
                                                       

• Access compliance 
with accounting policies 
and practices, significant 
changes therein and the 
level of conformity to 
accounting standards, 
policies and practices that 
are generally followed in 
the Banking industry.    

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To accept and reject bids.                                                                                                                                            
                    

• To receive and analyse 
the bids/proposals 
submitted and make 
recommendation to EXCO 
for award of contracts.                                                                                                                                       
           

• To solicit expertise, 
whether internal or external 
in the establishment of an 
evaluation panel where it 
deems it necessary.    
 

Committee Functions
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Operations 
Committee

Risk and Compliance 
Committee

Sales 
Committee

Management 
Committee

Objectives

• To assist EXCO in discharg-
ing its responsibilities of 
steering the Bank’s opera-
tions and IT technology. 

Objectives

• To discuss the monthly man-
agement accounts produced by 
the Bank for cost control and 
purpose cost cutting measures 
and to ensure that the reported 
figures are duly supported by 
reconciliations to ensure integ-
rity of the said management 
accounts.

Objectives

• To assist EXCO in fulfilling its pro-

curement responsibilities. 

Objectives

• To assist and support EXCO in 

understanding and communicating 
EXCO decisions to lower levels, 
and to effect the implementation 
of those decisions, to provide 
feedback from customers and staff 
from EXCO and to make recommen-
dations on strategy matters.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To oversee implemen-
tation of the Operations 
department strategy 
and operational plans.                                                                                                                                           
                                        

• Determine prioritization 
of investments and projects 
in line with the Bank’s busi-
ness strategy and plans.                                                                                                                                           
          

• Ensure that the Business 
and Operations regularly as-
sess operational and IT risks 
and their impact and that 
the Bank’s IT and operational 
risk position is transpar-
ent to all stakeholders.                                                                                                                                    
                          

• Ensure that there’s a 
framework for management 
of business processes which 
allows the re-engineering of 
better processes for better 
bank-wide operational and 
cost-efficiency; and that the 
overarching policies that 
governs the business pro-
cesses are workshopped and 
disseminated to all staff.                                                                                                                                      

• Support the initiatives, 
ideas and concepts of the 
Innovation Committee on 
technological innovations.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To monitor that Manage-
ment creates and maintains an 
effective internal control, risk 
management and compliance 
environment throughout the 
Bank, and that Management 
demonstrates the necessary 
respect for these disciplines and 
structures.                                                                   

• Monitor the compliance with 
legal requirements, statutes, 
regulations and the Bank’s code 
of ethics and conduct policy.                                                                                                                             

• Monitor that proper tax filing, 
compliance, risk identification 
and management is in place.                                                                                                                                           
                                      

• Review the adequacy of 
the Central Bank of Lesotho 
business unit reporting process, 
including quality of reporting 
and the adequacy of systems 
and human resources.                                                                                                

• Monitor the management and  
effectiveness of operational 
risk, compliance risk, insurance 
and assurance, information 
technology risk and accounting 
and taxation risk as laid out in 
the Bank’s EMR framework.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• Acquire new customers’ strategies                                                                                                                      

• develop marketing and sales strate-
gies.                                                                                                          

• Analyse LPB’s market share on 
customer volumes, deposits, assets 
and channels.                         

• Analyse and discuss service trends 
and the impact on sales targets  .                                                    

• Approve sales cluster processes.

Duties and 
Responsibilities

• To implement the approved 
strategy plan.                                                                                                              

• To share information across 
departments at the operational 
level with the view becoming more 
effective and efficient.
                                                                                                                    

• To follow up on issues to ensure 
quick resolution and to remove 
impediments to smooth operation.                                                                                                                                       
                          

• To disseminate information from 
MANCO to staff.
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“We would like to express our 
deepest condolences to those 
who have lost loved ones and 
colleagues to COVID-19.”

Broadly speaking, the COVID-19 
pandemic rendered 2020 a 

very heart-breaking time in our 
nation as businesses, jobs, and 
lives were lost at the merciless 
whim of a new virus. For our 
Bank, this difficult time also 
marked the second year in the  
three-year strategic cycle guided 
by the 2019-2021 strategic plan. 
Being the only Basotho Bank, it 
behoved us to align the Bank’s 
goals and objectives with the 
National Strategic Development 
Plan II (NSDP II), which is GoL’s 
strategic plan for achieving 
transformation through private-
sector led jobs and inclusive 
growth. This strategic focus had 
to be maintained, adaptively, in 
the prevailing conditions.

In 2019, our Board made 
a resolution to adopt the 
integrated reporting approach 
i.e. <IR>, which emphasises 
strategic focus on six capitals: 
financial capital, manufactured 
capital, human capital, social and 
relationship capital, and natural 
capital. In line with this resolution, 
our first integrated report was 
published for the 2019 reporting 
year. Thus, this integrated report 
marks our second publication in 
our <IR> journey.

Managing Director’s Report
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Financial Capital

The Bank had to craft innovative solutions to surmount the 
challenges presented by COVID-19 whilst maintaining its strategic 
direction. I share with great delight, our story of tenacity in the 
face of a mauling pandemic. As depicted in this report’s financial 
dashboard, our financial performance in 2020 was lower than 
our 2019 performance and below budgeted levels. However, the 
financial performance was notably high considering the prevailing 
socio-economic and health conditions of the year 2020. In 2019, our 
Balance Sheet stood at M1.44 billion whereas it stands at M1.81 
billion at the end of 2020. This represents an impressive 25.7% 
balance sheet growth. In significant  part, this was due to aggressive 
deposit acquisition.  

With a decline from M73 million to M61 million, our PBT for 2020 was 16.4% lower than our PBT for 
2019 and 22% below budget for the 2020 target. Our income declined from M213 million to M187 
million, which is a 13.9% drop in income. The economic effect of the COVID-19 phenomenon was 
a major contributing factor to this performance as the Central Bank of Lesotho reduced interest 
rates, which saw a drop in our revenue, thus  affecting PBT.

Manufactured Capital

The Bank operates across Lesotho through a network of 16 branches, 
some of which deliver services in the most financially underserved 
communities. The rural reach of our branch network is an active 
pursuit of our mandate to serve the unbanked and underbanked, yet 
economically active population. In addition to our branch network, we 
have 19 ATMs deployed in various districts from which our customers 
access the Bank’s services. This financial service distribution is 
supported by 251 agents and 182 merchants, with a combined POS 
terminal presence of 378 devices.

Intellectual Capital

In 2020, the Bank continued its EMV Enablement project. Our 
achievements for the year include acquiring licensing from Visa 
and continuing our journey to bolster our AML system in order 
to satisfy Mastercard requirements. The Bank appointed a Third 
Party Processor to aid connectivity with Visa and Mastercard. In 
addition, the Bank acquired a decentralized EMV card production 
system for Visa branded cards. Our E-Channels service grew 
to serve 102K subscribers and counting, which is a significant 
growth from the 26K subscribers we had in 2019. Digital channels, 
especially through the availing of our Khetsi product, are part of 
our financial inclusion strategy. Going forward, we intend to widen 
the availability of our product through aggressive acquisition of 
agents to assist Khetsi mobile wallet services across the nation.
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Social and Relationship Capital

We continue to build mutually beneficial and sustainable relationships 
with all our stakeholders which include but are not limited to our 
customers, government as our shareholder, CBL as our regulator, our 
Board, our auditors, strategic partners, vendors, and the media. We 
appreciate and look forward to our continued hard work together to 
support and guide the Bank towards greater heights. We, especially, 
thank our biggest stakeholder: our customers, for remaining 
steadfast and choosing us to serve their financial service needs. 
The Bank is aware of the triple context within which it operates: the 
economy, society, and the environment as the King IV Code reminds. 
To this end, we thank the broader society, which we engage with 
through our various CSI  initiatives, for granting us our social licence 
to operate.

Natural Capital

One of the four good governance outcomes of the King IV Code is 
value creation in a sustainable manner. In this light, the triple context 
includes a cognisance of the way our business interacts with the 
environment. Accordingly, the Bank is undertaking development 
of policies that will support and encourage environmentally 
friendly business practices by our customers. Internally, the 
Bank is establishing strategies to reduce adverse impact on the 
environment.

Surviving COVID-19
As the outbreak of the Corona virus affected the global economy, 
inflating commodity prices and the cost of living, the Bank revised 
the affordability ratio to ensure that new clients are not over-
indebted and have sufficient disposable income to meet their 
monthly expenditure. This was employed together with loan 
restructuring and payment holidays for existing clients. Loan 
restructuring is beneficial to both the client and the Bank; the 
client is granted an affordable facility where the loan period is 
extended to reduce the instalment payable while the Bank avoids 
the risk of having a defaulting client on their portfolio, which 

would cause the quality of the loan book to deteriorate. In 2020, the Bank restructured loans 
in order to provide a less expensive alternative to clients who are in financial turmoil. Clients’ 
businesses were able to survive while honouring their debt obligations. This measure also helped 
us build better relationships with our clients and deepen a sense of trusted partnership in hard 
times.
The Bank offered payment holidays, a feature which permitted clients to miss their monthly 
repayments for a set period while recuperating from the adverse effects of the lockdown. This 
allowed clients with limited cash flow to take a break from their debt repayments to protect them 
from reaching severe default stage and ultimately being classified as non-performing. Therefore, 
they could utilize their free cash flows to cover monthly expenditure. Ninety-five (95) qualifying 
clients were granted debt relief in 2020.
Currently, with the development of vaccines to help in reducing the impact of COVID-19, we 
encourage all staff members and the general public to vaccinate. This will help our nation to get 
back to normal lives.
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Risk Management

Risk management forms an integral part of our decision-making 
process, both at strategic level and on day to day business 
operations. This practice has paid back good results since sound 
decisions were made during the course of the year and that 
contributed positively to the bottom line.

Due to the fact that we are operating in an ever-changing 
environment, our decisions are made considering risk 
as a major determinant. In our periodic corporate 
strategy review in 2020, we considered emerging 
risks that posed a threat to our strategic objectives. 
We did not stop! In order to minimize negative 
impact to our strategic objectives, we realigned 
our control environment  to respond to the 
new threats.

Business Continuity and COVID-19 resilience

The year has been very challenging, and the COVID-19 Pandemic tested all businesses’ operational 
resilience, and Lesotho PostBank was not an exception. When the pandemic seemed to gradually 
spread throughout the world, the Bank had to develop a comprehensive Crisis Response Plan in 
getting ready to minimize business disruption.

Management formed a task team to respond to COVID-19, following the guidelines from 
the Government of Lesotho and the World Health Organisation. We utilized staff protection 
measures such as remote-working and a shift system, as well as the availing of PPE to prevent 
virus transmission amongst staff and/or LPB customers. Moreover, Management had to 
aggressively enhance technology platforms to enable LPB staff to work virtually without 
degrading the performance of our IT systems. The Bank was resilient since there was no close 
down of operations even during these difficult times. Moreover, owing to the panoply of 
responsive measures that included the Credit risk management measures aforementioned, the 
Bank not only averted loss of any staff lives to COVID-19 but also maintained a profitable year.

Governance

In terms of governance, membership of the 
Board of Directors was diversified. The Bank 
brought in executive directors i.e. the COO and 
CFO to join the non-executive directors on the 
Board. This move added gender diversity to our 
Board and brought in expertise on day-to-day 
operations to improve strategic decision-making. 
The Bank seeks to improve the age diversity and 
gender diversity of our Board, and this will be 
on the progressive agenda as we move forward. 
Significantly, the Bank is eagerly looking forward 
to adding independent non-executive directors 
to our Board.
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Future strategic focus

Going forward we plan to expand our distribution channels through 
increasing our ATMs as well as acquisition of merchants and agents 
across the country.  This will support our effort to increase LPB 
footing. We continue to be cognisant of our mandate to serve the 
unbanked and underbanked economically active population. In line 
with this mandate, we intend to grow our assistance to MSMEs and to 
the Agric sector, which are notoriously underserved segments of our 
economically active population.

Vote of Thanks to Staff and Management

It would be remiss not to distinctly appreciate the courageous discipline and dedication 
displayed by staff and management in steering the Bank through the unforeseen and 
hazardous COVID-19 storm. The Bank’s resilience through such a turbulent time was made 
possible by the concerted efforts of both staff and management who unreservedly lent all 
available strength to surmounting the challenges faced. 

Thank you for your dedication!



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

38

          Strategy and Resource Allocation

Our Capitals

1. Human Capital 
 
Relates to the right 
people with competent 
knowledge, skills, and 
experience at the right 
roles to perform their 
jobs effectively and 
efficiently.

2.Financial Capital  

Relates to funds 
that are available for 
strategic allocation to 
facilitate the provision 
of services.

3. Intellectual Capital 

Relates to intangible 
assets and includes 
intellectual property, 
systems, and processes.

4. Social and 
Relationship Capital 

Refers to relationships 
with different 
stakeholders, 
including customers, 
the community, the 
shareholder, regulators, 
strategic partners etc.

5. Natural Capital  

Relates to renewable 
and non-renewable 
environmental 
resources.

6. Manufactured 
Capital  

Relates to physical 
assets that are used to 
support the provision 
of services.

Our strategy was developed based on six capitals according to IR standards, namely;
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         Our Business Model

• Government of 
  Lesotho
• The Central Bank of  
 Lesotho (CBL)
• Local Employers
• Insurers and   
 Insurance Brokers
• Vendors 
• Software
• Telecommunications
• Cash-In-Transit  
 Companies (CITs)
• Energy
• Water
• Waste management
• Land Administration  
 Authority
• Car Dealers and  
 Property Developers
• Mobile Network  
 Operators

KEY PARTNERS & 
STAKEHOLDERS

Key Activities

• Deposit taking
• Credit 
• Guarantees
• Savings and  
  Investments
• Digital Financial  
 Services

• Advisory Services
• Financial Inclusion
• Corporate Social 
 Investment

Key Resources

• A distribution 
channel that 
reaches our 
customer 
segment at their 
convenience, 
both physically 
and digitally
• Knowledgeable 
staff that 
understands our 
customers’ needs
• Capital 
& Funding 
Resources

Value Propositions

To provide inclusive 
banking services in 
the most affordable 
manner and support 
growth of our 
customers and 
employees. 

Channels

• Branches
• ATMs
• Agency Banking
• Merchants
• Internet Banking
• Khetsi Mobile Wallet
• Mobile Banking

Customer 
Relationships

• Bricks and 
Clicks (Physical 
branch visits, 
outreaches, and 
social media 
marketing)

Customer 
Segments

• Economically 
active 
unbanked and 
underbanked 
Basotho and 
Basotho 
enterprises
With clear Focus 
on:

• Retail
• SMMEs
• SMEs
• Institutional 
& Corporate 
customers

Cost Structure

• Staff Costs
• Operating Costs

Revenue Streams

• Net Interest Income

• Fees and Commission Revenue
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         Our Strategic Pillars

01

02

03

04

05

06

People

Education

Products

Service

Sales

Stakeholders

• Staff is recognized as the key drivers of strategy.
• The right people must be at the right roles. Thus, recruitment  
 and retention must accord with driving strategic objectives.

•  Staff training and customer education.
• Staff must engage in continuing professional development to deliver the most  
 professional relevant quality service.
• Customers must be educated about products as well as general financial literacy.

• Design relevant products to meet customer needs.

• Highest quality service, which is responsive to   
 customer needs.

• Financial growth and profitability.
• Acquisition and retention of customers.

• Maintain good relations with key stakeholders.
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Inputs

Financial Capital – A balanced funding mix and solid equity position to support operations 
and business activities of taking deposits and lending.

Manufactured Capital – Infrastructure, including the technology used in the production of 
services and the delivery of products to our customers.

Human Capital – A strong ethical culture that is customer and employee centric with 
competent and skilled employees engaged within a diverse workforce.

Social and Relationship Capital – Collaborative relationships with a range of stakeholders 
including strategic service partners, regulators, and communities where we operate and aim 
to contribute to socio-economic development and societal wellbeing.

Intellectual Capital – Safe, effective, information and technology infrastructure combined 
with a strong brand and institutional knowledge.

Natural Capital – Energy (electricity, solar, and gas), air, water and waste management.

Business Activities and Outputs

We conduct activities with our strategy as our North star. We assist customers to create, 
grow, and protect wealth by offering an integrated set of banking products and services 
delivered through our customer convenient distribution channels. Our customer facing staff 
is enabled  to deliver quality services through policies and frameworks that synergize efforts 
whilst aligning with our combined assurance guidelines. 

Integrated Planning: Our integrated planning process considers our purpose, capabilities,  
strategic ambitions, and our operating environment. We identify and assess, plan, and 
prioritize, as well as respond and monitor. 
Operational Execution: Financial Management, Information Technology, Human Resources, 
Facilities Management, Procurement, Marketing and Communications.
Delivered products and services: We provide wholesale, business, and retail banking 
solutions as well as investment savings and credit solutions.

Outcomes

For Customers: Innovative, efficient, cost-effective banking solutions that meet customer 
needs. We provide improved access to markets and financial services including access to 
information and advice.
For employees: A workplace where employees can be productive and achieve their 
potential. Performance underpins the rationale for recognition and reward. We provide the 
environment conducive for self-led development and an opportunity for career progression.
For society: Ethical behaviour. Support for economic growth and increased access to, and 
funding for education opportunities. Decreased negative environmental impact.
For regulators: Fair and ethical engagement when dealing with the stakeholders. A stable 
financial services sector. An inclusive and transformed sector.
For investors: Growing, sustainable return on their investment through attractive dividends 
and growth in share price. Return on debt-based investments delivered in agreed timelines.
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Performance 
by Capitals
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          Human Capital

Our goal is to have a capabale, healthy, and vibrant workforce that will deliver the Bank’s 
mandate with determination and ambition. 

To achieve this goal, we engage in recruitment and various staff retention strategies. These   
strategies include innovative training and development support, and staff recognition through 
bonuses for high performance which is managed by a transparent performance management 
system. We encourage staff development and growth through succession planning, which 
includes job rotations, job enrichment, and job enhancement with a view to capacitating staff 
for higher positions.

We have a dedicated function for health and safety, which ensures that the workplace forms a 
conducive environment for healthy and vibrant working.

 Staff Complement

Despite the dire economic situation, we were able to retain our staff, without any forced 
retrenchments. The complement stood at 368 including 64 interns. The interns are sponsored 
by the Ministry of Finance for two years to assist in the fight against youth unemployment and 
to afford them (interns) experiential training in different disciplines. 

 Age Diversity 

We are a young bank with the average employee age of 34 years. New appointees’ average 
age was 27 in 2020, making it possible to groom new employees for senior positions in the 
future. This, however, is tempered by the fact that senior positions are held by young people 
below the age of 50, thereby limiting the prospects for upward mobility. Notwithstanding, 
the advantage of young leadership is high energy and vigour to deal with the high intensity 
banking environment. There is also greater innovativeness and an embracing of change.

Number of staff per category

Contract Permanent Temporary Interns Total

14 284 6 64 368
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           Gender Diversity 

We are sensitive to gender diversity and have a balanced proportion of both genders at middle 
management level. At the senior level, the ratio is above 2:1 male to female. At the lower levels, 
there are more women than men at a ratio of 1:1.4.

           Staff Costs 

Staff costs increased by 17% compared to the previous year. Incentives grew by 42%, reflecting the 
retention strategy of improving staff packages. Training expenses declined by 76.7% compared to 
2019 and comprised 1% of staff costs compared to 4.5% in the preceding  year. 

2017 2018 2019 2020

Training Cost Incentives

Staff Age Diversity <35 Staff Age Diversity 35-50 Staff Age Diversity >50

Senior Management Middle Management General Staff

1
13 2 7

17

3

151

85

5

Male Female

Senior Management Middle Management General Staff

102

139

14 1311
5
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Remuneration

We operate in a highly competitive market where staff turnover is significantly high.  
To mitigate the risk of loss of talent to our competitors, we continued to improve our 
performance management and reward system. During 2020 our remuneration system 
was reviewed, and improvements made to our long-term incentives. We also reviewed the 
salary structure to make it more competitive. This increased our staff costs by a significant 
amount as shown in the chart above. However, the increase was worthwhile because it will 
contribute to our talent retention in the long run.

Additionally, our performance management system is directly related to the strategic 
objectives of the Bank and we pay staff bonuses based on performance . The performance 
appraisals are undertaken bi-annually with the performance contracts based on the Bank 
strategy and individual departmental strategies. There are specific performance indicators 
to assess achievement of the objectives set out in the performance contract.

Strikingly, there were no retrenchments during the COVID-19 hardships. In addition, no 
employees were subjected to salary cuts. This is a testament to our appreciation of human 
capital’s contribution to the bank’s value creation process. We ensured that our employees’ 
job security would be insulated from financial challenges presented by the pandemic. 
Moreover, the Bank prioritized people over luxuriant profits. In such a challenging year, the 
Bank still found it crucial to issue bonuses to employees.

Director’s emoluments

Non-executive 2020 Directors’ fee Committees’ fees Total

L. Mokotjo 281 524 46 857 328 380

M. Sekhantšo 168 835 91 185 260 020

L. Mpotjoane 200 155 63 325 263 480

R. Likhang 143 778 63 318 207 096 

M. Matela-Mphana 145 568 71 552 217 120 

R. Mathule 175 099 53 823 228 922 

Executive 2020

M. Leqhaoe 93 963 - 93 963

M. Mahooana 81 434 - 81 434

M. Morake 93 963 - 93 963

R. Makara 93 963 - 93 963

1 478 281 390 060 1 868 341
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Numbers of Attendees Numbers of Trainees

253

66

65

38

6

6

2

5

Awareness

Leadership

Technical

Leadership

Technical

Awareness

Training

Our Response to COVID 19

The Response to COVID-19 in 2020:
The Government declared a nation wide lockdown on 28 March 
2020. A National Command Centre was created to enable COVID-19 
containment measures to be taken. The Government appointed 
delegates from different ministries and private entities to work 
at the Command Centre. This later developed into the National 
COVID-19 Secretariat (NACOSEC). Alongside these efforts, the 
Bank developed and approved a COVID-19 response plan and 
appointed an ad hoc committee to oversee its execution. The team 
was assigned to assess the risks to the Bank, update the plan in 
accordance with the Government’s policy or protocols, implement 
the plan and educate staff. 

Challenges and Resilience

The COVID-19 pandemic was the biggest challenge during 2020. 
Remote working had to be introduced to allow staff to work 
from home during these challenging times. Notwithstanding 
the introduction of tele-working to continue operations, our 
performance targets and the performance contracts had to be 
adjusted to reflect the challenge of working with smaller teams. 
Our expenditure also  increased due to the provision of resources 
for employees working from home and the purchase of Personal 
Protective Equipment for our staff, disinfection and fumigation of 
branches and the head office. In addition, we undertook to educate 
staff and customers about COVID-19 safety and precautions 
through information postera around our offices and branches.

Owing to the unforeseen nature of COVID-19, budgets had to be adjusted to accommodate the 
necessities required to thwart COVID-19 and continue operations. It was the most incredible 
challenge that our human capital division has ever had to traverse but we adapted and overcame 
2020’s hurdles.

ComplianceComplianceCompliance
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Future Outlook

In 2021, we will be exploring an array of longer-term incentives to improve our ability to attract 
and retain the best talent. We will continue to support our government’s employment efforts by 
offering deserving Basotho youth an opportunity to gain experiential training at our bank and 
even be absorbed into permanent positions based on their performance. Moreover, we intend to 
be champions for gender diversity in all the spheres of our business.

We will focus on enhancing digitalization to meet the need for continued tele-working. Trainings 
will be conducted virtually for most of our employees to maintain reduced physical contact during 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

We intend to restructure and review our job descriptions and performance contracts to help 
our employees perform to the best of their abilities. These adjustments will help us achieve our 
strategic objectives whilst cognisant of the challenges presented by COVID-19. In aiding our staff 
to work during COVID-19, we have every intention to provide them the utmost support for a safe 
and productive working environment.

We will continue to be cognisant of our LPB culture of excellence to ensure the achievement 
of our goals and set targets. The culture program will be implemented in conjunction with our 
succession plan, as well as the training and development plan. This will put us in the best position 
to achieve the strategic mandate, as well as to attract and retain the best employees.
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          Manufactured Capital

The manufactured capital is used to build service centres, infrastructure or touch points that are 
used as channels through which LPB products and services are distributed and delivered.

          Service Distribution Channels

To deliver services to our customers, the Bank has 
distribution channels which comprise of branches, 
merchants and agency network, automated teller 
machines (ATMs), point of sales (POS) terminals 
and digital channels. 

05

04 03

01

02
ATMs

Digital 
Channels Merchants 

and Agents

POS 
Terminal

Branches

Service 
Distribution 

Channels

We had sixteen (16) branches from which our 
services and products are offered: savings 
and investments, transactional and funds 
transfers as well as credit. Except for four (4) 
branches, the Bank uses existing buildings 
provided by the Lesotho Postal Services, 
which is our strategic partner. 
With 251 agents and 182 merchants across the 
country, we are extending our reach through 
third parties that have been approved by 
the Regulator. This network of agents and 
merchants uses our POS terminals to offer 
services at different locations throughout the 
country. This makes it convenient for those 
customers to access services at the nearest 
points.

The Bank has a card transacting platform from which 19 ATMs and POS terminals are controlled. 
We offer real-time cash deposits on 9 of the ATMs. All ATMs offer cardless cash withdrawals 
initiated by the customer on the digital channels using their mobile devices. The POS terminals 
are used at merchants for cardholders to purchase goods and get cash back. At agent locations, 
the POS terminal enables 2 sets of services – transactions from the Mobile Wallet (Khetsi) and 
banking transactions.
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Internet Banking

• Allows payments, transfers, transacting and access to bank   
 account through Internet browser.
• Allows corporate clients to transact with marker-checker   
 authorisation.
• 1,584 individual customers and 267 corporate clients have   
 registered for the service.

Mobile Banking

• Customers can use smart app and USSD for flexibility.
• 17,766 customers have registered for the service.
• Allows almost all services that can be offered at a branch.

Mobile Wallet (Khetsi)

• Any mobile phone subscriber can register and is positioned for  
 financial inclusion.
• 87,961 customers have registered for the service.
• Allows microsavings, community savings, community loans and  
 nano loans.
• Customers can use smart app and USSD for flexibility.

• The Mafike House building houses the Head 
Office and Maseru Branch – which is the flagship 
branch.

• It is a major symbol of our brand.

• The Head Office is a working place for about 2/3 
of employees.

• Having staff from different business units in one 
building helps in collaboration and reduces space 
rental costs.

Head Office Building
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Information and Communications Technology Systems

• Our state-of-the-art primary datacentre hosts all information     
   systems at the core of service delivery.
• The primary datacentre key components are duplicated at      
    the disaster recovery site for business continuity.
•  Connectivity to all branches and ATMs starts from here.
•  Stringent information and physical security measures   
    are used.

Risks and Opportunities

 Some of the buildings shared with Lesotho 
Postal Servcies pose security deficiencies 
which sometimes do not satisfy the 
requirements of the Regulator;

 There is depreciation of value on the 
parkhomes that are yet to be utilised as 
service centres;

 Social distancing to avert COVID-19 infections 
at the work place has further demand on 
physical space;

 More space is required as a result of expan-
sion of staff and storage of physical records.

Risk

There is more demand for our services at 
strategic destinations;

The RCPAN project from MoCST can be 
leveraged to expand our agency network for 
better reach in the rural areas;

Opportunities

Business Activities and Future Outlook

Business Activities in 2020

Acquisition of further 10 ATMs and 
POS terminals to increase outreach 

to customers.

 Installation of realtime cash deposit 
features on eight ATMs with cash 

recyclers;

There were further acquisitions of 
250 POS terminals for merchants and 

agents.

Future Outlook

Expansion of branches to regions 
within the country where there is 
lack of presence e.g. Butha Buthe, 

Mokhotlong, TY.

 Acquisition and deployment of more 
ATMs  to increase self-service in eco-

nomically viable areas;

 Provide electronic drop safes and 
mini-ATMs in order to expand the 

Bank’s offering on delivery channels.
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          Intellectual Capital

Our intellectual capital consists of:

• Our brand.
• Information and communication technology systems. 
• Business processes.

We believe in consuming our products first to ensure that they are the best quality at all times. 
Our staff members’ voices are, therefore significant in our ongoing improvement and reinvention 
of products and systems. So the Innovations Committee is effectively empowered by information 
drawn from our staff members. The Committee drives these innovations and feeds into the Sales 
Committee’s objectives. 

LPB Brand

Our Lesotho PostBank brand has grown to give it indisputable competitive advantage as ‘the only 
Basotho Bank’ which translates to contribution towards Basotho-related activities that promote 
culture and general lifestyle. We are the only indigenous bank in the country and the nation’s 
pride; we continue to change Basotho lives economically. A significant part of our corporate social 
investment for 2020 was to sponsor and provide lending to the disadvantaged, women, small 
businesses and farmers for better access to finance. Moreover, we continued to provide financial 
literacy to communities to help them manage their finances rationally.

Information and Communication Technology Systems

Due to COVID-19, 2020 compelled an increase in our dependence on our technology platforms. 
With this necessity came an increased capacitation of our technology platforms to allow them to 
carry a more significant portion of the Bank’s operations. Our digital channels also noted higher 
traffic, which increased the contribution of our intellectual capital to our value creation process. 
Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank continues with its project to introduce an interoperable 
Europay Mastercard Visa (EMV) card transacting platform to allow our cardholders to transact 
globally. This innovative move will do away with the Bank’s current closed loop system, with our 
ATMs and POS terminals being opened up to accept both Visa and Mastercard. The following 
milestones were achieved in 2020 on the EMV Enablement Project:

• Visa has licensed LPB as a principal issuing member whereas Mastercard had indicated  
 that LPB needs to have an automated OFAC sanctions screening and detection of suspicious 
 transactions. The Bank is in the process of implementing an Anti-Money     
 Laundering (AML) solution to meet this requirement and other regulatory requirements  
 from CBL. 

• A Third-Party Processor (TPP) was appointed and approved. This will facilitate connectivity 
 of the Bank to Visa and Mastercard network and will mitigate accompanying risks. 
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• Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) Assessment contract was awarded, 
 and the vendor had already started work. PCI DSS is a prerequisite for the Bank to issue  
 Visa cards.

• Procurement of a decentralised EMV card production system to be used for production of  
 Visa-branded cards to be issued to customers.

For 2021, in line with compliance requirements, the Bank will be licensed as an Authorised Dealer 
for cross-border and international transactions and accompanying Balance of Payments (BoP) 
reporting. ATM and POS terminal software applications with EMV support will be supplied and 
customised by their respective vendors. We intend to initiate and implement Visa and Mastercard 
certification projects. Another earmarked milestone is the acquisition and implementation of POS 
terminal software.

The Bank shall strive to improve its digital channels to eliminate any defects for improved customer 
experience. Where possible, artificial intelligence shall be used in data and business analytics to 
determine issues such as cybersecurity breaches, fraud, poor data quality or any others that may 
arise as a result of certain patterns that can be identified in customer transactions and network 
traffic.

Digital Channels

Digital channels consist of Internet Banking, Mobile Banking and Mobile Wallet. These services 
offer the ultimate self-service and convenience to customers because they can access and transact 
through their bank accounts and Khetsi.  

Internet Banking
Allows payments, transfers, transacting and access to bank account 
through Internet browser.
Allows corporate clients to transact with marker-checker authorisation
1,584 individual customers and 267 corporate clients have registered for 
the servic.

Mobile Banking
Customers can use smart app and USSD for flexibility.
17,766 customers have registered for the service.
Allows almost all services that can be offered at a branch.

Mobile Wallet (Khetsi)
Any mobile phone subscriber can register and is positioned for financial 
inclusion.
87,961 customers have registered for the service.
Allows microsavings, community savings, community loans and nano 
loans.
Customers can use smart app and USSD for flexibility.
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Business Processes

The Bank believes in business process driven operations to ensure compliance, productivity, and 
standardization imperatives. Our processes are currently manually driven. The Bank continued 
to review its business processes and procedures during 2020. We widened the scope of process 
management, including analysis and automation. This initiative will improve our efficiency and 
ultimately the financial performance. The business process review is as follows:

We record the Bank’s 
pivotal business processes. 

We quantify key 
parameters for measuring 
the efficiency and 
effectiveness of our 
processes.

We shed activities that 
are not adding any value.

We automate paper-
based activities, 
workflows, and rule-
based activities.

Support-knowledge 
based business activities 
for better decision 
making.

Enforce data quality 

measures.

We improve customer 
experience and convenience.

We expand our outreach 
and accessibility of services.

We enhance and automate 
management of informaion 
and cyber risk.

Current Business Processes Reengineering Digitalisation

Risks and Opportunities

There’s increased exposure to cyber risk as 
the world becomes more digitalised and 
remote work was introduced due to COVID-19 
pandemic;

 Business continuity remains a risk that needs 
to be better managed through a programme 
and increased capacity;

 Information and data risk is always inherent 
as part of information processing conducted 
by information systems.

Risk

Robust core banking system with licensed 
features required to support strategic 
initiatives such as customer segmentation;

Connectivity to national ID database to 
automate Know Your Customer (KYC) 
reference checks for facilitation of customer 
self-onboarding.

Opportunities



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

54

Business Activities and Future Outlook

Business Activities in 2020

The digital channels platform was 
enhanced with twenty-two change 
requests to address customer 
requests and make the service more 
competitive;

 A security system to improve 
security using flash or USB devices 
on the network was implemented so 
as to reduce virus infections on the 
network;

 We continued with the maintenance 
of the primary datacentre and 2 
rounds of disaster recovery testing 
were completed;

 Review of frameworks, policies and 
plans was completed in 2020.

Future Outlook

We shall continue with EMV 
Enablement Project in order to 
enable our cards to transact on 
global scale;
 Increase of software license capacity 
for application performance and 
compliance

 We will implement an automated 
queue management system for 
better service in our branches;

 In order to improve communication 
with external parties and remote 
staff, video conferencing system will 
be acquired;

 Data warehouse and MIS reporting 
system are required for improved 
data governance and presentation of 
MIS;

 Paperless branch banking shall be 
explored in order to reduce usage of 
paper to a minimum.
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          Financial Capital

Delivering sustainable returns to our shareholders depends on the extent to which we keep clients 
satisfied, have motivated employees, and vigilantly manage risk.

Profitability

Our profit before taxation declined from 2019’s performance of M73 million to M61 million, 
which represents a 19.7% drop. Our income declined from M213 million to M187 million, which 
is a 13.9% drop. This was significantly contributed to by CBL’s reduction in interest rates owing 
to the economic effect of COVID-19. Although depicting a decline in revenue, this has been a 
resilient performance in very strenuous economic conditions that were presented by the onset 
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

LOANS AND ADVANCES

The Bank’s Credit book was recorded at M889 million as of 31st December 2020, exhibiting a 
considerable growth of 25% from 31st December 2019 (M712 million). The contributing factor 
for the notable Credit book growth was Credit lending to more clients in the Retail sector, which 
are mostly Government employed to mitigate Credit Risk as instalments are deducted from 
source which materially minimize the probability of default. The granting criteria has been to 
maintain high quality clients where the emphasis is on financial inclusion and attaining financial 
sustainability without compromising the quality of the loan book. 
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The growing credit book has increased the Bank’s assets, thereby leading to a robust capital 
matrix through credit-related income. The Credit department contributes to maintenance 
of financial viability and a resilient balance sheet within the Bank.

The Bank’s credit book includes micro-financing products such as agric-products and 
MSMEs. The Bank continues to assist informal agri-businesses through agric-financing 
to drive financial inclusion and financial literacy mandate. LPB also assists non-salaried 
clients through offering microfinance loan products such as Unsecured Supplier Finance 
to meet their needs. Agric-financing and micro-financing are fundamental to driving LPB’s 
financial empowerment mandate at a larger scale, which will drive economic development 
and reduce national poverty. Notwithstanding the contribution of these products to our 
financial capital, our social and relationship capital is also enhanced by their contribution 
to uplifting underserved segments of our nation’s economy.

As of 31st December 2020, M2,1 million has been advanced to agric-lending to assist 
farmers with the financial capacity to improve their businesses to increase national food 
security within the country through promotion of mechanized farming techniques in 
Lesotho. Moving forward, the Bank aims to grow the Agric portfolio to reduce nutrition 
scarcity within the country and improve the overall living standards of Basotho residents . 
Similarly, MSMEs were financed with M7,4 million to assist school caterers with provision 
of food parcels to learners within the country. The amount of Partial Credit Guarantee used 
as collateral for Business facilities in 2020 was M15 million. This assisted 49 customers who 
would ordinarily have difficulty in securing loans due to lack of secondary income. In 2021, 
the Bank aims to grow the MSME Credit portfolio to provide financial assistance to low 
income earners, who would otherwise have limited/no access to financial services. In this 
manner, the Bank will also be achieving its social mandate of driving financial inclusion. 

The Bank has maintained compliance with the internally approved risk appetite and has 
managed its efficiency ratios within the internally set thresholds. By December 2020, the 
Business and Retail Credit books encompassed 88% and 12% of the loan book respectively, 
well within their approved risk tolerance level of 80%-90% and 10%-20% correspondingly. 

Non-Performing Loans

The Bank’s Non-Performing Loans (NPLs) were managed below their internally set 
benchmark. Sustaining the Bank’s Non-Performing book within acceptable risk tolerance 
readings is geared towards mitigating against value erosion. Moving forward, the Bank will 
continue to diligently monitor the ratio within acceptable Credit Risk levels to ensure that 
the quality of the loan book is preserved. Acquisition of corporate clients will be fiercely 
pursued to ensure that highly collateralised loans are approved to minimise the likelihoods 
of default.
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Expected Credit Loss

As of December 2020, the overall ECL to total loans and advances was recorded at 3.8%, which 
is within the approved risk appetite of 5%, indicating good management of Credit Risk. The ratio 
will be continuously monitored for Credit granting criteria improvement to safeguard the public 
interest and regulatory requirements.

In 2020, the IFRS 9 ECL model was recalibrated to ensure compliance with the International 
Accounting and Reporting Standards. The model predicts the behavioural scoring of each credit 
facility and distinguishes between favourable and unfavourable credits. Thus, it ensures that 
deteriorating assets are identified early to protect the Credit book from erosion.

The maintenance of the loan loss provision within the internal threshold is critical to the value 
creation process. It ensures that the provision is well confined within set parameters, thereby 
improving profitability margins to increase liquidity ratios and a healthy Balance Sheet. Looking 
forward, the Bank will recalibrate the Model at least once per annum to ensure that micro and 
macro environmental changes are incorporated in the IFRS 9 Model for accurate measurement of 
behavioural scoring and thus, proper measurement of Credit Risk.

Revenue from Loans

Interest income dropped by -2.9% from 2019 (M139,5 million) to 2020 (M135,5 million). The 
slight decline in interest revenue was instigated by the Bank’s initiative to make the cost of credit 
affordable to under-banked and unbanked clients while driving financial inclusion as part of the 
Social and Relationship Capital’s coherent actions. The level of interest income to the total loan 
loans and advances was 18.9% and 15.1% respectively.
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Interest income dominates Credit-related revenue but shrank from 92% to 88% of total income in 
2020 due to curbed pricing. The processing fees increased from 6% to 10% of total income in 2020 
due to the 21% increase in the Bank’s Credit book while other fees remained invariable at 2% in 
both 2019 and 2020. The total revenue generated from the Bank’s loans and advances in 2020 was 
M153 million, increasing marginally by 0.6% from 2019 when total revenue was recorded at M152 
million. Revenue from total loans and advances plays a central role in the Bank’s profitability 
margins and is pivotal to ensuring the Bank’s long-term viability.

The Future

As at  31st December 2020, the Salaried Sector dominated the Bank’s credit book, encompassing 
77% of the total loans and advances. Moving forward, the Bank would like to diversify the loan 
book to avoid excessive concentration risks in one sector. A well-diversified loan book would imply 
that deterioration in one industry does not adversely affect the loan book. The Bank intends to 
grow the Transport, Business and Agriculture, Hunting, Forestry and Fishing sectors by 8% in 
2021. The expansion of these sectors would support the strategic initiative of acquisition and 
retention of more corporate clients to diversify our loan book. Moreover, these portfolios are 
highly collateralised, hence less chances of default. This implies growth of the loan book while 
also adhering to the internally set risk appetite.
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COVID-19 outbreak has had a negative impact on the Bank:

The COVID-19 pandemic proceeds to spread globally, with wide-ranging and deep social and 
economic effects.  Economic contractions are expected to continue with gradual recoveries 
towards the close of the year.

The emergence of COVID-19 has exposed the global, regional, and domestic economic growth 
to a downside risk with all economies facing a downward spiral. Central banks around the 
globe have introduced different forms of quantitative easing and financial stimulus to aid 
economic growth. Central Bank of Lesotho (CBL) has also done the same.

                                                     

 Key COVID-19 Impact Contributors:

 Cut on the CBL rate by cumulative   275 basis points caused a sharp drop into the Bank’s 
interest income. 

 Mismatch between interest rates paid by the Bank to its fixed-term customer deposits at 
5.6% per CBL’s directive while we received from counterparty placements an average interest 
of 4.7%.

 Lockdown declared consequent to the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak resulted in less than 
budgeted deposit collections owing to the movement restrictions imposed.   

Responsiveness to Support Clients and Employees:

Key Highlights

PBT 

Reduced 

by 16% YOY

Cost To 
Income Ratio 

Reduced 

by 7% YOU

Loan To 
Deposit Ratio 

Decreased 

by 5% YOY

Capital 
Adequacy 

Ratio

 Increased 

by 3% YOY

M401.2 Million 
New Loans to
 Clients YTD

M776K 
Implemented Debt 

Moratoria.

15 Branches 
Fully Operational 

throughout 
Q2 2020 

lockdown

26.8k
 Customers Were 

Transacting Online , 
12k increase 

YOY
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COVID-19 Impact Analysis on Economy and the Bank:

 

The Coronavirus has left dramatic rippling effects across the global economy, making a mark 

on the level of economic activity in every region of the world. In response, governments 

across the globe have taken strict measures to curtail infection rates, as well as to protect 

the functioning of healthcare systems and the most vulnerable members of society. These 

measures, consisting of quarantines and closure of physical shops and businesses i.e. 

Lockdowns and curfews, are essential for abating the spread of the coronavirus. These 

initiatives have a pronounced immediate impact on the level of economic activity in certain 

sectors, as they lock down large parts of the economy.

According to the UNDP Socio Economic Assessment Report, Lesotho’s agricultural output is 

expected to be subdued, although it is recovering and expected to grow by 0.3% in 2020/21. 

Industry and services are also predicted to contract by 8.2% and by 4.3% respectively. A decline 

in global demand and the subsequent drop in the manufacturing and diamond industries will 

reduce Lesotho’s export earnings and further depress the economy, worsening the country’s 

fiscal position. The current account deficit is expected to widen from 7.6% of GDP in 2019/20 

to 9.5% in 2020/21 with COVID-19, government expenditure is bound to increase to offset 

the impact of the pandemic on the productive sectors. 

The performance of the textile and apparel industry is contingent on external supply chains, 

which have been disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic. This has limited the ability of the 

sector to sustain its current activity and employment levels. Across each sector, informal 

businesses and workers are particularly vulnerable to job and income losses. This will result 

in increased poverty as business owners and workers will be without an income or will lose 

their employment entirely. Potential job losses will most likely exacerbate overall poverty 

rates in the country.

The closure of borders has also prevented small scale operators from sourcing merchandise 

from South Africa. Most MSMEs that depend on South Africa for inputs may not survive the 

disruption in their supply chains as it is almost impossible to switch sources or suppliers.

Interest rates are expected to remain unchanged as rates fell by 275 basis points in the 

current year and further reduction may hurt Savers as well as the banking Industry. Banks 

are expected to lose their net interest margins due to low rates as well as providing payment 

holidays for affected clients. 

The inflation trajectory is expected to follow food price developments, since the food 

category commands the largest share in the domestic consumer price index (CPI) basket. Risks 

to the inflation outlook remain balanced, with the downside pressures emanating from low 

demand, and the upward pressures coming from administered prices and supply disruptions 

caused by the pandemic.
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With regard to the Bank on the previous lockdown imposed by government from March to 

May 2020, Net Interest Income reduced as per the table below:

   2020  2019 % change 
(YOY)

Interest Income:  Cash & short-term funds       

17 974 020 

19 067 778

-5.7%

Financial assets at amortised cost       17 296 639 13 251 157 30.5%

 Loans and Advances 135 655 189 139 532 682 -2.8%

 Total interest income

170 925 848

171 851 617 

-0.5%
Interest expense on deposits            

(25 367 827)

(19 988 896)

26.9%

Net Interest Income 145 558 020 151 862 722             4.2%

Interest income from Bank’s investments, marketable securities as well as loans and advances 
is M 171 million which is 0.5% decrease from 2019. The main contributors to the change are 
decrease in interest rates as well as payment holiday which was given to certain borrowers. 

Apart from that, interest expense for 2020 is 26.9% higher compared to 2019. Due to increase 
in deposits rates. Furthermore, the acquisition of fixed deposit of M50 million in January 
2020 led to additional increase on interest expense.

On Credit book, the lockdown that was introduced in 2020 to curb COVID-19 spread, resulted 
in temporary closure of non-essential services for a period of about a month or so.

Some of the business customers were given payment holiday as their businesses were closed 
at a time and retail customers working for Private schools whose salaries were suspended 
were also given payment holiday. However, majority were able to get back to their normal 
operations and they were up to date with their instalments once the economic activities got 
back to normal. The problem is still with few Private Schools teachers as their salaries are still 
not paid in full.

Most of the Bank loan book was less affected because its loan book comprises Government 
employees whose salaries were not disturbed during 2020. In addition, most businesses 
financed by the Bank provide services to the Government and were not affected by COVID-19.

The most affected sector was hospitality, restaurants & hotels, but the Bank’s customers 
mostly provide lodging and the Government used their premises as quarantine centres and 
paid them, albeit late.

The Bank had anticipated to close the year with more defaults as a result of COVID-19 impact. 
However, since the Country was not badly affected in 2020 and bounced back by mid-year, 
the Bank closed the year with non-performing loans to total loan book ratio at 2.3% which 
was an improvement compared to previous year performance.

The Central Bank of Lesotho reduced some interest rates which negatively affected our 
interest revenue in 2020 as most of our loan book is interest sensitive.

COVID-19 Impact on Loans and Advances Book:
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Bank Information

             Lesotho PostBank Limited

             Registration Number: I2004/163
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              Mafike House Building

              Kingsway

              Maseru

               Kingdom of Lesotho
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Moteane, Quashie & Associates Chartered Accountants (Lesotho) replaced Sheeran & 
Associate Chartered        Accountants as external auditors of the bank for the statutory 
audit in accordance with section 98 of Companies Act of Lesotho.

Attorneys

               Webber Newdigate

               Phoofolo Associates Inc.

Bankers

              First National Bank of Lesotho

              Nedbank Lesotho

              Standard Lesotho Bank

Corporate Secretary

               R. Makara        
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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the Annual Financial Statements of 
Lesotho PostBank Limited for the year ending 31 December 2020.

1.     Incorporation

The Government of Lesotho is the sole shareholder of the Bank. The Bank was incorporated 
on 01 April 2004 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the same day.

2.     Nature of business

Lesotho PostBank Limited is incorporated and operates in Lesotho. It is engaged in retail and 
business banking. 

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Bank’s business from the prior year.

3.     Review of financial results and activities

Financial Statements present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cashflow 
of the entity.

Fair presentation requires faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events 
or conditions in accordance with definition and recognition criteria of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses set out in the conceptual framework.

The Bank recorded a net profit after tax for the period ended 31 December 2020 of M49.2 
million. This represented a decrease of 23% from the net profit after tax of the prior year 
which was M63.7 million.

4.     Share capital

There have been no changes to the authorised or issued share capital during the year under 
review.

5.      Dividends

The Directors recommend that dividend be paid in respect of period under review based on 
the dividend policy that is yet to be approved.

6.     Directors’ interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which directors or officers of the 
Bank had an interest and which significantly affected the business of the Bank.

7.     Events after the reporting period

The Directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date 
and up to the date of

this report.

 8.     Going concern 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance 
future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.  
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9. Directorate     

                    

Initials and Surnames Membership Appointment Term Directorship Type

L. Mokotjo Chairman 01/07/2016 to date Non-Executive 
Director

M. Sekhants’o Member 01/12/2018 to date Non-Executive 
Director

L. Mpotjoane Member 10/02/2019 to date Non-Executive 
Director

R. Likhang Member 12/08/2019 to date Non-Executive 
Director

M. Matela-Mphana Member 12/08/2019 to date Non-Executive 
Director

R. Mathule Member 02/09/2019 to date Non-Executive 
Director

M. Leqhaoe Member 01/02/2014 to date Executive Director

M. Mahooana Member 16/01/2020 to date Executive Director

M. Morake Member 16/01/2020 to date Executive Director

10. Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

L. Mpotjoane

R. Mathule

M. Sekhants’o

11. Governance Committee

M. Matela-Mphana

L. Mokotjo 

L. Mpotjoane

12. Finance and Credit Committee

M. Sekhants’o

R. Likhang

M. Matela-Mphana

13. Board Information Technology Committee

R. Mathule

L. Mokotjo 

R. Likhang  
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020

Notes

2020

M

2019

M
Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 4 42 335 145 42 937 324

Right of Use Assets 25 6 582 572 5 883 354

Intangible assets 5 76 928 168 67 745 404

Deferred tax asset 6 13 285 612 10 710 029

Financial assets at amortised cost 7 246 073 168 164 512 951

Inventories 8   859 136 777 339

Trade and other receivables 9 12 416 537 10 703 872

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

10 52 627 366 51 925 373

Loans and advances 11 859 652 411 707 748 171

Cash and cash equivalents 12 502 662 467 379 163 291

Corporate tax receivable 24 - 139 384

Total assets 1 813 422 582 1 442 246 492

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 13 37 000 000 37 000 000

Reserves 13 40 256 037 40 338 031

Retained income 247 621 808 198 451 763

324 877 845 275 789 794
Liabilities
Deferred tax liability 6 237 844 1 542 775

Lease liability 25 7 434 066 6 088 320

Trade and other payables 14 28 029 984 21 850 781

Deferred income 15 78 308 233 89 640 148

Corporate tax liability 24 2 033 994 -

Deposits 16 1 372 500 616 1 047 334 674

Total liabilities 1 488 544 737 1 166 456 698
Total equity and liabilities 1 813 422 582 1 442 246 492

The accounting policies on page 16 to 36 and the notes on pages 39 to 72 form an integral 
part of the Annual Financial Statements
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Statement of Profit and Loss and other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 
December 2020

Notes 2020

M

2019

M
Capital grant income 17 11 331 915 13 433 682

Fees and commission 18 63 523 748 47 040 872

Other income 19 3 326 695 344 363

Net interest income 145 558 020 151 862 722
Gross interest income 20 170 925 848 171 851 618

Finance costs 20 (25 367 827) (19 988 896)

Total income 223 740 379 212 681 639)

Depreciation and amortisation 21 (15 996 744) (11 786 046)

Impairment of loans and advances 21 (5 468 044) (4 236 563)

Employee costs 21 (68 597 007) (59 492 739)

Other operating expenses 21 (72 698 564) (64 345 635)

Profit before taxation 60 980 020 72 820 655
Taxation 22 (11 809 975) (9 169 419)

Profit for the year 49 170 045 63 651 236

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to prof-
it or loss
Fair value adjustment on Norsad investment 
before tax

10 (81 994) 3 604 056

Income tax relating to items that will not be 
reclassified

- -

Other comprehensive income for the year 
net of taxation

(81 994) 3 604 056

Total comprehensive income for the year 49 088 051 67 255 292

The accounting policies on page 16 to 36 and the notes on pages 39 to 72 form an integral 
part of  the Annual Financial Statements
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes

2020

M

2019

M
Cash flows from Operating Activities
Cash generated from / (utilised in) operations 23 (71 053 359) (71 955 951)

Interest received 20 170 925 848 171 851 618

Interest paid 20 (25 367 827) (19 988 896)

Tax paid 24 (13 795 880) (24 351 115)

Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances 11 (154 320 473) (10 789 351)

Deposits received /(repaid) during the year 16 325 165 942 (54 700 204)

Net cash from operating activities 231 554 251 (9 933 899)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 4 (7 666 044) (11 798 660)

Proceeds from disposal of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

4 - 236 474

Purchase of other intangible assets 5 (15 023 598) (6 989 375)

Proceeds from sale of investments 10 - 1 265 086

Proceeds from sale of treasury bills and bonds 7 165 962 200 70 512 800

Purchase of treasury bills and bonds 7 (249 073 900) (22 000 000)

Net cash from/ (utilised in) investing activi-
ties

(105 801 342) 31 226 325

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal elements of lease payment 25 (2 253 732) (1 014 638)

Net cash from financing activities (2 253 732) (1 014 638)

Total cash movement for the year 123 499 176 20 277 788

Cash at the beginning of the year 379 163 291 358 885 503

Total cash at end of the year 12 502 662 467 379 163 291

The accounting policies on page 16 to 36 and the notes on pages 39 to 72 form an integral 
part of the Annual Financial Statements
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Total 
share 

capital

Statutory 
reserve

Norsad 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Total 
reserves 

Retained 
income

Total equity

M M M M M M M M
Balance at 01 January 2019 20 000 000 17 000 000 37 000 000 37 000 000 (266 025) 36 733 975 134 800 527 208 534 502

Profit for the year - - - - - - 63 651 236 63 651 236

Other comprehensive in-
come

- - - -  3 604 056 3 604 056 - 3 604 056

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

- - - - 3 604 056 3 604 056 63 651 236 67 255 292

Transfer between reserves - - - - - - - -

Adjustment for corporate 
tax

- - - - - - - -

Total contribution by and 
distribution to owners of 

Bank recognised directly in 
equity

- - - - - - - -

Balance at 01 January 2020 20 000 000 17 000 000 37 000 000 37 000 000 3 338 031 40 338 031 198 451 763 275 789 794

Profit for the year - - - - - - 49 170 045 49 170 045

Other comprehensive in-
come

- - - - (81 994) (81 994) - (81 994)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

- - - - (81 994) (81 994) 49 170 045 49 088 051

Transfer between reserves - - - - - - - -

Total contribution by and 
distribution to owners of 

Bank recognised directly in 
equity

- - - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 
2020

20 000 000 17 000 000 37 000 000 37 000 000 3 256 037 40 256 037 247 621 808 324 877 845

The accounting policies on page 16 to 36 and the notes on pages 39 to 72 form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements 
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1.Accounting Policies

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Annual Financial 
Statements are set out below.

Lesotho PostBank Limited is a Bank incorporated and domiciled in Lesotho. The address of its 
registered office and principal place of business is Mafike House Building, Kingsway, Maseru.

1.1   Basis of preparation

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance 
with, and in compliance with, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued 
and effective at the time of preparing these Annual Financial Statements, and the Companies 
Act of Lesotho 2011 and the Financial Institution Act of 2012.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, except 
for financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and 
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). They are 
presented in Maloti, which is the Bank’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 

1.2   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of Annual Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, 
from time to time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in any future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty:

IFRS 9 Model

IFRS 9 led to changes in classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities in 
accordance with impairment requirements, particularly how to account for expected credit 
losses resulting in the earlier recognition of credit impairments. The expected credit loss is 
given by considering the probability of default that is an estimation of actual receivables loss 
in the event of debtor default, or what is expected to be irrecoverable from among the assets 
in insolvency proceedings.

IFRS 16 adaptation

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. 
The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets 
and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset 
has a low value. The weighted average discount rate applied as at 1st January 2019, was 
estimated to be the implicit interest rate of the lease.

Fair value estimation

Several assets and liabilities of the Bank are either measured at fair value or disclosure is 
made of their fair values. Observable market data is used as inputs to the extent that it is 
available. Qualified external valuers are consulted for the determination of appropriate 
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valuation techniques and inputs. 

Impairment testing

The Bank reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such indicators 
exist, Management determines the recoverable amount by performing value in use and fair 
value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When 
it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual asset, Management 
assesses the recoverable amount for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined 
based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These 
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that 
the assumption may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a 
material adjustment to the carrying value of assets.

1.3   Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

o it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to   
   the asset will flow to the entity; and
o the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and they are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment loss. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent 
with the function of the intangible assets. 

Intangible assets’ amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life. 
Computer software refers to acquired software.

Capital work in progress includes software which is still under development. 

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their 
residual values as follows:

Item                                                                                                       Useful life

Computer software                                                                               15 years

1.3   Intangible assets (continued)

Research and development costs  

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual 
project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:  

o The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be  
 available for use or sale; 
o Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset; 
o  How the asset will generate future economic benefits;
o The availability of resources to complete the asset; 
o The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 
of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is 
amortised over the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation is recorded in cost of 
sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.
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Armotisation is provided to write down computer software on a straight-line basis, to their 
residual values as follows:

Asset Type Term in months Term in years Residual Value

Computer Software 180 15 0%

1.4   Financial instruments

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits and debt securities issued on the 
date they are initiated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and 
sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the 
Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Recognition and initial measurement

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue.

Classification

Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in one of the following categories:

o Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), distinguishing between those designated 
into that category and those mandatorily measured at FVTPL;

o Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) and;

o Amortised cost.

Business models for managing financial assets

Held-to-collect business model (measured at amortised cost) where the following are 
met:

o The objective is to collect contractual cash flows over life of loan.

o There are infrequent or insignificant sales incidental to objective of business 
model.

o Sales consistent with objective if in response to credit deterioration (sale of non-
performing loan assets).
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Held-to-collect-and-sell business model (measured at FVTOCI) where the following are 
met:

o Both collecting contractual cash flows and sales are integral to business model.
o There is more frequent and/or significant level of sales, however not trading.

Residual (measured at FVTPL) when the following are met:

o Business model is neither a held-to-collect business model nor a held-to-collect-
and sell business model.

o Collection of contractual cash flows are incidental to the objective of the model.

Financial liabilities 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan 
commitments, as measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition 

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 
in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the 
sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest recognised in transferred financial assets 
that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the 
transferred assets, the transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar 
to sale and repurchase transactions because the Bank retains all or substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of such assets.
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In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank 
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by 
the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

In certain transactions, the Bank retains the obligation to serve the transferred financial 
asset for a fee. The transferred asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria.

Financial liabilities 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire.

Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right 
to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for 
gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading 
activity.

Amortised cost measurement

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus 
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference 
between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for 
impairment.

 Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal 
or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. 
The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset 
or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on 
an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that 
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the factors that market participants would 
consider in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally 
the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the bank 
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the 
fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then 
the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference 
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price.  Subsequently, that 
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

77

but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the 
transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the bank 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask 
price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit 
risk that are managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit 
risk are measured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position 
(or paid to transfer a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level 
adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities based on the relative risk 
adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

Identification and measurement of impairment

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial 
assets not measured at fair value though profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an 
impact on the future cash flows of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes amongst others:

o Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

o Default or delinquency by a borrower;

o The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms 
that the Bank would not otherwise consider; 

o Indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;

o the disappearance of an active market for a security, or observable data relating 
to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers 
or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the 
group.

IFRS 9 applies a forward-looking Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model. These ECL estimates 
incorporates forward-looking information, such as macroeconomic forecasts, which are 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in the credit risk of the underlying 
financial instruments.

IFRS 9 also requires a classification of financial assets in three different stages, which 
determine the ECL quantification approach:

Stage 1: Assets that are considered as performing. It includes financial instruments that 
have not had significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or that have low 
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credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses (ECL) 
are recognised. 

Stage 2: Assets that are considered underperforming (that is, there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since the time they were originally recognised but do not have objective 
evidence of impairment). For these assets, lifetime expected credit losses are recognised. 
The lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of the financial instrument.  

Stage 3: Assets that are considered non-performing and therefore impaired. These assets 
have demonstrated objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. Lifetime expected 
credit losses are recognised for financial assets that fall into this category.

Financial assets in stage 1 are subject to a 12-month ECL, i.e. ECL on possible default events 
in the next 12 months from the reporting date, whereas financial assets in stage 2 are subject 
to a (higher) lifetime ECL, i.e. ECLs on any possible default event between the reporting date 
and the end of the lifetime of the financial asset.

Financial assets in stage 3 are also subject to a lifetime ECL. However, ECL is based on 
the difference between the gross carrying amount of the asset and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, including expected realisations of any security held, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate of the financial asset, as the asset is already in default.

COVID-19 impact

IFRS 9 permits a bank to assume, without further analysis, that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument 
is determined to have ‘low credit risk’ at the reporting date.

Payment deferrals scheme made as per Government of Lesotho’s directive;

On Credit book, the lockdown that was introduced in 2020 to curb COVID-19 spread, resulted 
in temporary closure of non-essential services for a period of about a month or so.

Some of the business customers were given payment holiday as their businesses were closed 
at a time and retail customers working for Private schools whose salaries were suspended 
were also given payment holiday. However, majority were able to get back to their normal 
operations and they were up to date with their instalments once the economic activities got 
back to normal. The problem is still with few Private Schools teachers as their salaries are still 
not paid in full.

Most of the Bank loan book was less affected because its loan book comprises Government 
employees whose salaries were not disturbed during 2020. In addition, most businesses 
financed by the Bank provide services to the Government and were not affected by COVID-19.

The most affected sector was hospitality, restaurants & hotels, but the Bank’s customers 
mostly provide lodging and the Government used their premises as quarantine centres and 
paid them, albeit late.

The Bank had anticipated to close the year with more defaults as a result of COVID-19 impact. 
However, since the Country was not badly affected in 2020 and bounced back by mid-year, 
the Bank closed the year with about Non-Performing Loans (NPLs): Total Loan Book ration at 
2.3% which was an improvement compared to previous year performance.
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The Central Bank of Lesotho reduced some interest’s rates which negatively affected our 
interest revenue in 2020 as most of our loan book is interest sensitive.

Write off policy

An account shall be written-off 3 months after being classified as a loss. Loans written off are 
still subject to enforcement activities under the Bank recovery procedures, considering legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made post write-off are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss 
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward- looking information as described above. The exposure at default is the 
gross carrying amount of the loan at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis in cases where evidence of significant increases 
in credit risk are not yet available at the individual instrument level. Loans are then grouped 
in such a manner that they share similar credit risk characteristics, such as nature of the loan, 
external credit ratings (if available), industry of counterparty etc.

If the Bank has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date 
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Bank measures the loss allowance 
at an amount equal to 12 month ECL at the current reporting date, and vice versa.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all loans in profit or loss with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is 
included in other operating expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance 
(note 20).

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included in the specific notes and the 
financial instruments and risk management (note 3).

Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes 
related to derecognition. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of a loan receivable 
is included in profit or loss in derecognition gain (loss) on financial assets at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at 
amortised cost (note 9).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding, and the Bank’s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade 
and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus 
transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal 
repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of 
any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance.

 Application of the effective interest method

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income on trade 
receivables is dependent on the credit risk of the receivable as follows:

The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the receivable, provided 
the receivable is not credit impaired. The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before 
adjusting for a loss allowance.

If a receivable is purchased or originated as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost in the determination of interest. This treatment 
does not change over the life of the receivable, even if it is no longer credit impaired.

If a receivable was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently 
become credit- impaired, then the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of 
the receivable in the determination of interest. If, in subsequent periods, the receivable is no 
longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 14), are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are 
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective 
interest method results in the recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or 
loss in finance costs (note 19).

Trade and other payables expose the Bank to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. 
Refer to note 3 for details of risk exposure and management thereof.

Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies

When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the 
payables are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to 
the Maloti equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting 
foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the other comprehensive 
income (losses).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the 
trade and other payables note (note 14).
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Derecognition

Refer to the “derecognition” section of the accounting policy for the policies and processes 
related to derecognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less and bank overdrafts 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expires, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Bank neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Bank recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognise the 
financial asset and recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassification

Financial assets

The Bank only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model 
for managing financial assets. If a reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from 
the reclassification date. Any previously stated gains, losses or interest are not restated.

The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in 
business model which necessitates a reclassification.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

The Bank classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability, or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments 
for which a fair value is not determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as 
available-for-sale financial assets.
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For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
are included in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership.

Fair value determination

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a 
financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Bank establishes fair value by using 
valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to 
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on 
entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

 Financial assets are being impaired as indicated below:

For amounts due to the Bank, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that 
the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered an indicator of impairment. If any 
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity as a 
reclassification adjustment to other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the 
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for equity investments 
classified as available- for-sale.

Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments 
which are held at cost because fair value was not determinable.

Investments

Investments comprise investments in money market instruments. These are initially and 
subsequently recorded at fair value.

At subsequent reporting dates these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. 
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent 
periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial assets that the Bank has positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are 



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

83

classified as held to maturity.

Effects of exchange rate changes

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates are 
not cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
held or due in a foreign currency are reported in the statement of cash flows in order to 
reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. This amount 
is presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities. 
It also includes the differences, if any, had those cash flows been reported at period-end 
exchange rates.

1.5   Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are tangible assets which the company holds for its own use 
or for rental to others and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. Property, Plant and Equipment is subsequently stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land 
which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Property, Plant and Equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all the expenditure 
which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the 
capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge 
accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts 
of Property, Plant and Equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the company and the cost can be measured 
reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are 
incurred. Capital work in progress includes tangible assets which are not readily available for 
their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write down Property, Plant and Equipment on a straight-line 
basis, to their residual values as follows, except capital work in progress assets which are 
depreciated post project completion:

Asset Type Term in months Term in years Residual Value

Furniture and Fixtures 84 7 2%

Motor Vehicles 48-60 2-5 4%-20%

Office Equipment 60 5 2%

IT Equipment 84-120 7-10 1% -5%

Leasehold Improvements 120 10 1%

Prefabricated Buildings 180 15 10%

1.6   Tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities

Income tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If 
the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for 
those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 
extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability at acquisition date. This affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused 
Advanced Corporate Tax (ACT) credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused ACT credits can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or 
loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income, or a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the 
tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to 
items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

COVID-19 impact

The Bank’s taxation is based on a consistent rate of 25% for both 2020 and 2019. In order to 
assist large taxpayers during the COVID-19 pandemic, Lesotho Revenue Authority allowed 
some tax relief measures for stimulating the economy as follows;

o For the first quarter instalment, 40% was deferred and 60%   paid at the end of 
June 2020;
o For the second quarter instalment, 20% was deferred and 80% paid at the end 
of September 2020, and 
o Deferred Amounts were to be paid from the end of October 2020 and spread 
out into six equal monthly instalments to the end of March 2021.

The Bank adopted the above as a means of liquidity management to soften the impact of 
COVID-19 which affected business operations.  
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1.7 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases (Note 24)

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, which provides a comprehensive model for the 
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the Financial Statements of both 
lessees and lessors. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 leases.

Significant changes have been made to lessee accounting since the distinction between 
operating and finance leases was eliminated, and thus, assets and liabilities must be recognised 
for all leases (subject to limited exceptions for short-term leases with a period of 12 months 
or less, and leases of low-value assets which amount to M75,000.00 or less when new). The 
low-value assets amount is based on $5,000.00 set by IFRS 16 translated into Maloti at an 
average rate of M15.00. IFRS 16 does not include significant changes to the requirements for 
lessors.

Regarding the Bank’s financial statements, the adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in changes to the 
Bank’s accounting policies for recognition and measurement of leases for which the Bank is a 
lessee. All lease contracts that have components of a lease per IFRS 16 were recognised and 
treated under IFRS 16. These include contracts that conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset to the Bank for a period in exchange for consideration.

Right of Use Assets

The Bank recognises Right of Use Assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right of Use Assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement 
of lease liabilities. The cost of Right of Use Assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right of Use Assets are depreciated 
using straight-line method.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (less any lease incentives receivable), variable lease payments that depend 
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The 
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Bank and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term 
reflects exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers the payment occurs.

Depreciation is provided to write down the Right of Use Assets on a straight-line basis, to 
their residual values as follows:

Asset Type Term in months Term in years Residual Value
Office equipment Per lease term Per lease term 0%

Building Per lease term Per lease term 0%

COVID-19 impact

The IASB issued COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases to 
provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for 
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Many lessors have provided rent concessions to lessees as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Rent concessions can include rent holidays or rent reductions for a period, possibly followed 
by increased rent payments in future periods. Applying the requirements in IFRS 16 for 
changes to lease payments, particularly assessing whether the rent 

concessions are lease modifications and applying the required accounting, could be practically 
difficult in the current environment. 

The objective of the amendment is to provide lessees that have been granted COVID-19 
related rent concessions with practical relief, while still providing useful information about 
leases to users of the financial statements.

The Bank did not have any leases impacted by the amendment as no changes were made on 
lease payments.

1.8   Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the weighted 
average cost method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as 
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any 
write-down inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a 
reduction in the number of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs.

1.9 Impairment of assets

The Bank assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that 
an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Bank estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated 
for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the 
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated 
as a revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce 
the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

o first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating 
unit and 
o then to the other assets of the unit, on a pro-rata based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit.
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An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment 
loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are 
estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of 
an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or 
amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of 
an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.10 Share capital and equity

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any 
amounts received from the issue of shares more than par value is classified as ‘share premium’ 
in equity.

Statutory reserve is a portion of profits which the Banks is legally required to hold and 
maintain in compliance with Financial Institutions Act. 

Norsad Finance revaluation reserve represent an increase in the Bank’s investment asset 
value to reflect the current market value.

Retained earnings are the profits that a company has earned to date, less any dividends or 
other distributions paid to investors. This amount is adjusted whenever there is an entry to 
the accounting records that impacts a revenue or expense account.

1.11 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service 
is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits 
such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are 
not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees 
render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs.

1.12 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

o The Bank has a present obligation because of a past event;
o it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required 
to settle the obligation. Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision 
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised 
when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount 
recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be 
recognised and measured as a provision.



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

88

1.13 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Bank will 
comply with the conditions attaching to them; and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs that they are intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future 
related costs is recognised as income of the period in which it becomes receivable.

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are 
presented in the statement of financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income.

Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the profit or loss (separately).

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any unamortised deferred 
credit set up in respect of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such 
deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised immediately 
as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of 
the asset or reducing the deferred income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative 
additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as an expense in the absence 
of the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.

1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from providing services/products is recognised in the accounting period in which 
the services and/or products are rendered.

The bank derives the following types of revenue streams in fees:

o    Cash and Short-term funds
o    Financial assets at amortised cost
o    Loans and advances
o    Capital grant income
o Fees and commission
o Bad debts recovered
o Gain on foreign exchange rate

        

Revenue is recognised using the methods outlined below:

Cash and short-term funds:

All placements of funds with other financial institutions earn interest, which is paid to the 
Bank upon maturity, at specific interest rate.

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Interest income earned from Central Bank of Lesotho, which is paid to the Bank at specific 
interest rate.

 Loans and advances:

Interest income from loans and advances is deducted monthly from sources at agreed 
contractual dates.

Capital grant income:

A grant receivable as compensation for costs already incurred or for immediate financial 
support, with no future related costs.
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Fees and commission:

All in-branch services are provided at a fee and are charged at the spot. The fees are charged 
based on the prevailing charge and depend on the product/service in question.

Bad Debts Recoveries:

Income from the loans which are managed off-balance sheet and are impaired. They are 
realized during the period they are collected.

Gain on foreign exchange rate:

Income received as a result of fluctuations in ZAR versus USD rates as at 31 December.

1.15 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Maloti, by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the 
foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

o foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
o non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
o non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during 
the period or in previous Annual Financial Statements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary 
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Maloti by applying to 
the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Maloti and the foreign currency 
at the date of the cash flow.
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The standards and interpretations below will be effective in the following financial 
years: 

Effective date: years 
beginning on or after

Standard/ Interpretation: Expected impact:

1 June 2020 Covid-19-related Rent 
Concessions Amendments to 
IFRS 16 

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

The amendment is 
effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 
January 1,2020. Earlier 
application is permitted.

IAS 8 — Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

Originally 1 January 2021, 
but extended to 1 January 
2023 by the IASB in March 
2020

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

Effective January 1, 
2011, earlier application 
is permitted. The 
amendments are effective 
for annual periods 
beginning on or after 
January 1, 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

1 January 2022 The amendment to IAS 37 
clarifies that the direct costs 
of fulfilling a contract include 
both the incremental costs 
of fulfilling the contract and 
an allocation of other costs 
directly related to fulfilling 
contracts. Before recognising 
a separate provision for an 
onerous contract, the entity 
recognises any impairment loss 
that has occurred on assets 
used in fulfilling the contract.

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

1 January 2022 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments–
clarifies which fees should 
be included in the 10% test 
for derecognition of financial 
liabilities.

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

1 January 2022 IFRS 16 Leases – amendment 
of illustrative example 13 
to remove the illustration 
of payments from the 
lessor relating to leasehold 
improvements, to remove any 
confusion about the treatment 
of lease incentives.

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

2.  New accounting standards and interpretations
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1 January 2022 IFRS 1 First-time Adoption 
of International Financial 
Reporting Standards – allows 
entities that have measured 
their assets and liabilities at 
carrying amounts recorded 
in their parent’s books to 
also measure any cumulative 
translation differences using 
the amounts reported by the 
parent. This amendment will 
also apply to associates and 
joint ventures that have taken 
the same IFRS 1 exemption.

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

1 January 2022 IAS 41 Agriculture – removal of 
the requirement for entities to 
exclude cash flows for taxation 
when measuring fair value 
under IAS 41. This amendment 
is intended to align with the 
requirement in the standard to 
discount cash flows on a post-
tax basis.

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

The amendments are 
effective for annual 
periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 
outlines the accounting when 
an acquirer obtains control of a 
business (e.g. an acquisition or 
merger).

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

Originally 1 January 2022

Possibly deferred to

1 January 2023

Amendments of IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Definition of 
Material and Classification 
of Liabilities as Current or 
Noncurrent

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

1 January 2022 The amendment to IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
(PP&E) prohibits an entity from 
deducting from the cost of an 
item of PP&E any proceeds 
received from selling items 
produced while the entity is 
preparing the asset for its 
intended use. 

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.

The effective date of this 
amendment has been 
deferred indefinitely until 
further notice.

Amendments to IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture (Amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

The impact of the standard 
will not be material.
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3. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial in-
struments:

Categories of financial 
assets

2020

Notes

Fair value 
through other 
comprehen-
sive income

Amortised 
cost

                Total Fair value

Loan and advances 11 - 861 640 833 861 640 833 861 640 833 
Investments at fair value 10 52 627 365 - 52 627 365 52 627 365 
Trade and other receivables 9 - 5 383 601 5 383 601 5 383 601 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 - 502 662 467 502 662 467 502 662 467 
Treasury bills and bonds 7 - 246 073 168 246 073 168 246 073 168 

52 627 365 1 615 760 069 1 668 387 434 1 668 387 434 

2019

Notes

Fair value 
through other 
comprehen-
sive income

Amortised 
cost

Total Fair value

Loan and advances 11 - 720 840 177 720 840 177    720 840 177

Investments at fair value 10 51 925 373 - 51 925 373 51 925 373

Trade and other receivables 9 - 4 725 941 4 725 941 4 725 941

Cash and cash equivalents 12 - 379 163 291 379 163 291 379 163 291

Treasury bills and bonds 7 - 164 948 403 164 948 403 164 948 403

51 925 373 1 269 677 811   1 321 603 184 1 321 603 184

More cash has been reserved in current year to cater for liquidity uncertainty caused by COVID-19 pandemic.

Categories of financial lia-
bilities

2020

Notes

Amortised 
cost

Total    Fair value

Trade and other payables 14 25 977 564 25 977 564 28 029 984

Deposits 16 1 372 500 616 1 372 500 616 1 372 500 616

1 398 450 729 1 398 450 729 1 400 530 600

2019

Notes

Amortised 
cost

         Total      Fair value

Trade and other payables 14 23 100 176 23 100 176 25 353 827 

Deposits 16 1 047 334 674 1 047 334 674 1 047 334 674

1 398 478 180 1 398 478 180 1 072 688 501

Despite COVID-19, the Bank has been able to acquire more deposits mainly from corporate clients.

3.  Notes to Financial Statements
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Capital risk management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the bank’s ability to continue as 
a going concern in order to ensure that there are adequate liquid assets to meet demands by 
depositors and also to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
The bank attains these objectives by maintaining a reserve balance with the Central Bank and 
liquid assets amounting to not less than 3% and 25% respectively of the aggregate of deposit 
liabilities. The Bank has maintained adequate capital and the minimum liquidity required. The 
bank had a capital adequacy ratio of 20.1% compared to 8% as per the Financial Institutions 
(Risk-Based Capital Requirements) Regulations 1999 section 5 and Basel 1 requirements. The 
Bank was also compliant with the reserve account balance of M42.6 million.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital 
maintenance or externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

Overview

The Bank is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

o Credit risk;
o Liquidity risk; and
o Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

The Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s 
risk management framework. The Board has established the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee (ARCCO), which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Bank’s risk 
management policies. The committee reports quarterly to the directors on its activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 
to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions and the Bank’s activities.

The Bank’s audit and risk committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

The Bank is exposed to credit risk on loans and advances, debt instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, trade and other receivables, contract receivables, 
lease receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan commitments and financial guarantees.

Credit risk for exposures other than those arising on cash and cash equivalents, are managed 
by making use of credit approvals, limits and monitoring. The Bank only deals with reputable 
counterparties with consistent payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also 
obtained when necessary. Each counterparty is analysed individually for creditworthiness 
before terms and conditions are offered. The analysis involves making use of information 
submitted by the counterparties as well as external bureau data (where available). 
Counterparty credit limits are in place and are reviewed and approved by Credit Management 
Committees. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of counterparties is 
continuously monitored.
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Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the Bank through 
dealing with well- established financial institutions with high credit ratings.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments but 
excluding those measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

To calculate credit loss allowances, Management determine whether the loss allowances 
should be calculated on a 12 month or on a lifetime expected credit loss basis. This 
determination depends on whether there has been a significant increase in the credit 
risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, then the 
loss allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected credit losses. If not, then the loss 
allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. This determination is made at the 
end of each financial period. Thus, the basis of the loss allowance for a specific financial asset 
could change year on year.

Management apply the principle that if a financial asset’s credit risk is low at year end, then, 
by implication, the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. In all 
such cases, the loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. Credit risk is 
assessed as low if there is a low risk of default (where default is defined as occurring when 
amounts are 90 days past due). When determining the risk of default, Management consider 
information such as payment history to date, industry in which the customer is employed, 
period for which the customer has been employed, external credit references etc. In any 
event, if amounts are 30 days past due, then the credit risk is assumed to have increased 
significantly since initial recognition. Credit risk is not assessed to be low simply because of 
the value of collateral associated with a financial instrument. If the instrument would not 
have a low credit risk in the absence of collateral, then the credit risk is not considered low 
when taking the collateral into account. Trade receivable and contract assets which do not 
contain a significant financing component are the exceptions and are discussed below.Where 
necessary, the assessment for a significant increase in credit risk is made on a collective basis. 
Management typically adopt this approach when information relevant to the determination 
of credit risk is not available on an individual instrument level. Often, the only information 
available on individual instruments which could indicate an increase in credit risk, is “past 
due” information. It is typical that more forward-looking information is generally more readily 
available on a collective basis. Therefore, making the determination on a collective basis, 
helps to ensure that credit loss allowances are determined based on lifetime expected credit 
losses before they reach the point of being past due. Futuristic macro-economic information 
is applied on a collective basis when it is readily available without undue cost or effort. When 
loss allowances are determined on a collective basis, management determines the loss 
allowances by grouping financial instruments based on shared credit risk characteristics.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

2020

   
Notes

Gross carrying 
amount

Expected 

Credit loss 
Amortised cost / 

fair value

Loan and advances 11 893 206 284 (33 565 451) 859 640 833
Investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 10 52 627 365 - 52 627 365

Trade and other receivables 9 5 383 601 - 5 383 601

Cash and cash equivalents 12 502 662 467 - 502 662 467

Treasury bills and bonds 7 248 566 712 (2 493 544) 246 073 168

Total 1702 446 429 (36,058,995) 1 666 387 434
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2019

   
Notes

Gross carrying 
amount

Expected

Credit loss 

Amortised cost / 

fair value

Loan and advances 11    736 886 321 

    

(29 138 150)    707 748 171 

Investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 10      51 925 373  -   51 925 373 

Trade and other receivables 9        4 725 941  -       4 725 941 

Cash and cash equivalents 12    379 163 291  -    379 163 291

Treasury bills and bonds 7    165 992 855  (1 479 904)      164 512 951

Total 1 338 693 781 (30 618 054)       1 308 075 727

For trade receivables and contract assets which do not contain a significant financing 
component, the loss allowance is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses of the 
instruments. For all other trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, IFRS 9 
permits the determination of the credit loss allowance by either determining whether there 
was a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or by always making use of 
lifetime expected credit losses. Management have chosen as an accounting policy, to make 
use of lifetime expected credit losses. Management does therefore not make the annual 
assessment of whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition for 
trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables.

The tables below show expected credit loss on loans and advances (Note 11):

ECL_DEC_ 
2020 Number of loans  ECL amount  ECL rates 
*Current 11 523      18 979 667 56.5%

30 days 247        2 925 975 8.7%

60 days 79        2 028 452 6%

90 days 51        1 424 818 4.2%

120 days 47        1 516 634 4.5%

150+ days 242        6 689 905 19.9%

Total 12 189      33 565 451 100%
    

There has been an increase in expected credit loss due to increase in credit risk imposed by 
COVID-19.

ECL_DEC_2019 Number of loans  ECL amount  ECL rates 

*Current  10 613 14 188 143 48.7%

30 days   94 985 874 3.4%

60 days   53 1 629 985 5.6%

90 days   39 2 429 982 8.3%

120 days   30 767 008 2.6%

150+ days   216 9 137 248 31.4%

Total  11 045 29 138 150 100.0%

*The ECL for 2020 increased as a result of growth in loan book and introduction of new 
products. In addition, the general economic conditions were stressed by COVID-19.
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Amounts are presented at amortised cost or fair value depending on the accounting treatment 
of the item presented. The gross carrying amount for debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income is equal to the fair value because the credit loss allowance 
does not reduce the carrying amount. The credit loss allowance is only shown for disclosure 
purposes.

If a receivable is purchased or originated as credit-impaired, then a credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost in the determination of interest. This treatment 
does not change over the life of the receivable, even if it is no longer credit impaired. Loans 
receivable are exposed to credit loss because they have a significant financing component.

Liquidity risk

The Bank is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulties 
in meeting its obligations as they become due.

The liquidity position of the Bank has improved over the past year when taking into account 
its business activities despite the advent of COVID 19 which resulted into lockdowns and 
sluggish economic activity in the last 6 – 9 months. The Bank always endeavours to optimise 
its funding profile within regulatory and structural constraints considering operational 
efficiency, diversification and sustainability of funding. Sufficient liquidity buffers are 
maintained through accumulation of stock of high-quality liquid assets that are used to 
protect the Bank against unexpected or stressful events and market disruptions. 

The Bank uses Basel III liquidity requirement ratios like Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net 
Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) to assess short- and long-term liquidity challenges. LCR promotes 
short term liquidity resilience of a bank’s liquidity. This is normally achieved through holding 
enough high-quality liquid resources to survive an acute stress scenario lasting for 30 days. 
The LCR is well above 1 which is a requirement to be declared as liquid. The LCR showed 2.51 
which reflects that there is enough liquidity to survive short term liquidity challenges. The 
Liquidity position has shown some resilience despite the challenging economic conditions 
and effects of COVID – 19.

The Bank has measures to counter act and delay the impact on the Bank’s liquidity as 
follows:

o The Bank always keeps liquidity buffers to guard against unexpected outflow of funds;
o Daily and Monthly monitoring of the Bank’s liquidity position by LCR, NSFR and Liquidity 
Gap reports;
o The Bank is closely managing the maturity ladder to guard against the liquidity mismatches, 
and 
o The Bank sales team has a strong relationship with the Government of Lesotho; therefore, 
the team will engage into negotiations with the GOL to ensure that withdrawals of huge 
amounts will be paid in trenches.
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3.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

2020 Term to Maturity

  Carry 
Amount

Overnight -3 
Months

4-12 Months >12 Months Non-maturing

Assets          

Cash 34 986 161 34 986 161 - - -

Balances with Central Bank 42 630 622 42 630 622 - - -

Balances with foreign banks 289 429 665 218 621 227 70 808 438 - -

Balances with local Banks 139 008 393 139 008 393 - - -

Treasury bills & government 
stock

248 566 712 66 196 544 67 340 052 115 030 115 -

Advances 893 206 284 22 654 920 35 650 599 834 900 765 -

Other assets 22 987 232 - - - 22 987 232 

Fixed assets 180 988 951 - - - 180 988 951 

Due from head office, parent 
company or subsidiaries

52 627 365 - - - 52 627 365 

Total assets                                                                         1 904 431 385 524 097 867 173 799 089 949 930 880 256 603 548 

Liabilities          

Non maturing deposit 1 073 131 360 1 073 131 360 - - -

Term deposits 299 369 259 116 548 619 134 393 431 48 427 208 -

Taxes 4 086 414 4 086 414 - - -

Provision for Loans 36 086 446 - - - 36 086 446 

Provision For IFRS - - - - -

Other provisions 17 056 005 4 925 594 - - 12 130 411 

Sundry liabilities 11 092 700 3 658 633 - 7 434 067 -

Suspense accounts 1 056 688 1 056 688 - - -

Loan insurance 1 388 034 1 388 034 - - -

Loan liabilities 2 790 753 - - - 2 790 753 

Advance payments - - - -  

Deferred income - - - -  

Capital grants 78 308 233 - - - 78 308 233 

Other liabilities 55 098 483 - - - 55 098 483 

Equity and Reserves 324 877 844 - - - 324 877 844 

Total liabilities 1 904 431 385 1204 795 342 134 393 431 55 861 275 509 381 336 

                       -   (680 697 475) 39 405 658 894 069 605 (252 777 788)

Cumulative gap                      -   (680 697 475) (641 291 817) 252 777 788 -
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2019 Term to Maturity

  Carry Amount
Overnight - 
3 Months

4 - 12 
Months

> 12 
Months

Non-Matur-
ing

ASSETS          
Cash  28 424 903  28 424 903 -  -  -

Balances with Central Bank  50 575 922  50 575 922 -  -  -

Balances with Foreign 
Banks  215 870 564  124 648 954 91 221 610  -  -

Balances with Local Banks  87 236 787  87 236 787 -  -  -

Treasury Bills & Gvt Stock  165 992 855  30 977 333 23 032 190  111 983 332  -

Advances  736 886 322 7 363 430 32 939 836  696 583 056  -

Other Assets  27 012 381  - - - 27 012 381 

Fixed Assets  115 327 234  - - -  115 327 234 

Due from Head Office 
Parent Company or Subsid-
iaries  48 321 317  - - - 48 321 317 

Total Assets  1 475 648 285  329 227 329 147 193 636  808 566 388 190 660 932 

Liabilities          

Non maturing deposit  862 727 343  862 727 343 -  -  -

Term deposits  184 607 331 6 339 482  122 085 291  56 182 558  -

Taxes 2 253 651 2 253 651 -  -  -

Provision for loans  17 090 596  17 090 596 -  -  -

Other Provisions  12 532 683 -  2 120 670 - 10 412 013 

Sundry liabilities 5 581 865 2 078 817  -  3 503 048  -

Loan insurance 1 866 254 1 866 254 - -  -

Loan liabilities 3 119 374 3 119 374 -  -  -

Capital Grants  89 640 148 - - - 89 640 148 

Equity and Reserves  296 229 038  - - -  296 229 039 

Total Liabilities  1 475 648 283  895 475 517 124 205 961  59 685 606 396 281 200 

    (566 248 188)  22 987 675  748 880 782 (205 620 268) 

    (566 248 188) (543 260 513)  205 620 269 - 

COVID-19 impact

The table above illustrates the liquidity mismatch gap reflecting negative gap in the short 
term on a cumulative basis however, the Bank has a funding strategy in place to raise deposits 
through growth in customer base, transactional accounts as well as term deposits. The 
Management has strengthened its liquidity resources following the emergence of COVID – 
19. The sources of stress funding have been defined in terms of term as well as by sources.  
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Foreign currency risk

The Bank is exposed to foreign currency risk which refers to the losses that an international 
financial transaction may incur due to currency fluctuations. 

A bank with foreign assets or liabilities can be exposed to currency risk because the exchange 
rate can affect the profitability of its domestic banking operations. The foreign currencies 
in which the Bank deals with primarily are US Dollar and South African Rand. In this current 
year, the world has been hit by the Corona virus pandemic which caused the global economy 
to contract at unprecedented levels. The Rand had weakened by 1.8% from the beginning of 
the third quarter to the end of December 2020. 

The Bank has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to 
foreign currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Bank’s 
foreign operations is managed.

Notes to Financial Statements

2020 2019

USD USD

USD exposure: 36 388 846 27 005 977 

USD USD

Foreign investment (Norsad Finance) 36 388 846 27 005 977  

SA Rand exposure: ZAR ZAR

Current assets: 287 700 761   213 517 077 

Cash and cash equivalents

Exchange rates
ZAR ZAR

Maloti per unit of foreign currency:       287 700 761   213 517 077 

Increase in other comprehensive income:                  2020  2019
 M M 
Maloti strengthen by 20% (2020:M10.15) (14 251 477) (2 883 245)

Maloti depreciate by 20% (2020: M23.69)  35 353 921     4 324 867

The year-end exchange rate applied in the above analysis are US Dollar/Maloti (2020:16.92).

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Bank’s principal foreign currency exposure is in SA Rands. The table below illustrates the 
hypothetical sensitivity of the Bank’s reported profit and closing Norsad Finance Investment 
to a 20% increase and decrease in the US Dollar/Maloti exchange rates at the year-end date, 
assuming all other variables remain unchanged. The 20% sensitivity rate is assumed in this 
analysis because, on average Maloti appreciated and deprecated by 20% against the US 
Dollar in past 5 years.
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Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of investments and financing activities, 
giving rise to interest rate risk. 

The debt of the Bank is comprised of different instruments, which bear interest at either 
fixed or floating interest rates. The ratio of fixed and floating rate instruments in the loan 
portfolio is monitored and managed, by incurring either variable rate bank loans or fixed 
rate bonds where necessary. Interest rate swaps are also used where appropriate, in order to 
convert borrowings into either variable or fixed, in order to manage the composition of the 
ratio. Interest rates on all borrowings compare favourably with those rates available in the 
market.

The Bank investment policy with regards to financial assets, is to invest cash at floating rates 
of interest and to maintain cash reserves in short-term liquid assets in order to maintain 
liquidity, while also achieving a satisfactory return for shareholders.

There have been no significant changes in the interest rate risk management policies and 
processes since the prior reporting period.

Interest rate profile

The interest rate profile of interest-bearing financial instruments at the end of the reporting 
period was as follows:

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The short-term interest rates have declined rapidly during the course of this financial year, 
as Central Banks across the globe continued to adopt an Expansionary Monetary stance 
to stimulate economic activity. The economic activity was adversely strained by economic 
lockdowns to reduce spread of COVID–19. The contraction in interest rates exposed the Bank 
to interest rate risk. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk in the Banking book. Interest Rate 
Risk in the Banking book is the risk that a bank’s profitability and/or earnings are impacted by 
significant changes in interest rates.

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risks both in SA and in Lesotho. The interest rate risk 
is measured using Net Interest Income (NII) Sensitivity Analysis performed on 12 months 
forecast income statement.

NII shock 3 Months 6 Months >/=Year Total Post 
shock

Amounts

NII (Original 
model)

55 261 494 11 439 498 115 111 788 181 812 780

NII (Interest 
rate increase 
+200p)

59 581 125 9 367 979 133 411 450 202 360 554 11.302% 20 547 775

NII (Interest 
rate decrease 
-200p)

50 941 864 13 511 016 96 812 126 161 265 005 -11.302% (20 547 775)

Price risk

The Bank is not exposed to equity and commodity price risk.
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            2020

        M

2019

M

Property, Plant and 
Equipment

Cost or 

revaluation

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or re-
valuation

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying value

Furniture and fixtures 7 664 512 (3 504 599) 4 159 913 6 530 842 (2 509 641) 4 021 200

Motor Vehicle 1 628 606 (1 005 990)  622 615 1 628 606 (769 065 859 541

Office equipment 8 426 939 (5 075 068) 3 351 871 6 664 008 (3 774 902) 2 889 106

IT equipment 31 359 354 (13 045 701) 18 313 652 25 886 991 (9 683 766) 16 203 225

Leasehold improvements 19 634 207 (6 435 179) 13 199 028 17 487 179 (4 526 401) 12 960 778

Prefabricated buildings 2 727 826 (1 388 600) 1 339 226 2 727 826 (1 224 930) 1 502 896

Capital Work in Progress 1 348 839 - 1 348 839 4 500 577 - 4 500 577

Total 72 790 282 (30 455 137) 42 335 145 65 426 0280 (22 2488 705) 42 937 324

Reconciliation of Prop-
erty, Plant and Equip-
ment- 2020

Opening bal-
ance

Additions Capitalised Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 4 021 200  378 935  785 834 (9 220) (1 016 837) 4 159 913 

Motor Vehicle  859 541                    -                      -                  -   (236 926)  622 615 

Office equipment 2 889 106            406 074 1 436 752        (25 368) (1 354 693) 3 351 871 

IT equipment 16 203 225 4 819 329  843 829 (56 302) (3 496 430) 18 313 652 

Leasehold improvements 12 960 778  608 335 1 538 694                -   (1 908 778) 13 199 028 

Prefabricated buildings 1 502 896                    -                      -                  -   (163 670) 1 339 226 

Capital Work in Progress 4 500 577 1 453 371 (4 605 109)                -                         -   1 348 839 

Total 42 937 324 7 666 043                    -   (90 890) (8 177 333) 42 335 145 
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Reconciliation of Prop-
erty, Plant and Equip-
ment- 2019

Opening bal-
ance

Additions Capitalised Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 5 040 907 381 041 42 435 (11 420) (1 431 763) 4 021 200

Motor Vehicle 1 531 828 - - - (672 288) 859 541

Office equipment 3 586 683 393 472 352 940 (109 674) (1 334 315) 2 889 106

IT equipment 14 275 974 598 632 2 623 340 (96 888) (1 197 833) 16 203 225

Leasehold improvements 13121805 26 013 1 470 140 (2 979) (1 654 201) 12 960 778

Prefabricated buildings 1 418 085 8 280 342 304 - (265 773) 1 502 896

Motor Bikes 15 512 - - (15 512) - -

Capital Work in Progress 3 514 258 5 817 479 (48 311 590 - - 4 500 577

Total 42 505 052 7 224 916 - (236 474) (6 556 171) 42 937 324
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5. Intangible 
assets

2020             2019

Cost of valua-
tion

Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying value Cost of valuation Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying value

Computer soft-
ware 94 807 093 (20 198 932)      74 608 162 

81 812 963 (14 358 097) 67 454 866

Capital Work in 
progress 2 320 006                   -          2 320 006 

290 538 - 290 538

Total
97 127 099 (20 198 932)      76 928 168 

82 103 501 (14 358 097) 67 745 404

Reconciliation of 
Intangible assets 
2020

Opening bal-
ance

Additions Capitalised Amortisation Closing balance

Computer soft-
ware 67 454 866 11 242 265 1 751 865 (5 840 834)

              74 608 
162 

Capital Work in 
progress  290 538 3 781 333 (1 751 865)                                  -   

                2 320 
006 

Total
67 745 404 15 023 598                           -   (5 840 834)

             76 928 
168 

Reconciliation of 
Intangible assets 
2019

Opening bal-
ance

Additions capitalised amortisation Total

Computer soft-
ware

45 414 356 4 844 212 21 613 775 (4 417 477) 67 454 866

Capital Work in 
progress

19 759 150 2 145 163 (2 161 3775) - 290 538

Total 65 173 506 6 989 375 - (4 417 477) 67 745 404
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6.   Deferred Tax 2020

M

2019

M
Current liability
Property, Plant and Equipment (237 844) (1 542 775)

Split between defered tax asset:

Current assets
Audit fee provision 204 923                         140 000 

Leave  provision  262 951 189 470

Loan impairment provision 9 021 611 7 654 514

Provision for staff bonus 1 055 662 530 168

Accruals-Finance  158 801 -

Non-current assets
Gratuity provision 1 231 563 845 777

Legal fees provision 1 350 101 1 350 101

13 285 612 10 710 029
The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same juris-
diction, and the law allows net settlement. Therefore, they have  been offset in the state-
ment of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability (237 844) (1 542 775)

Deferred tax asset 13 285 612 10 710 029

Total  net  deferred tax asset 13 047 768 9 167 254

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)
At beginning of year         9 167 254 1 754 857

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference move-
ment on audit fee provision

 

64 923                        (17 000)

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference move-
ment on leave provsion

 

73 481 (758)

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference on 
gratuity provision  385 786 (393 100)

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference on 
loan impairment provision

 

1 367 098 2 366 584

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference move-
ment on property,  plant and equipment

 

1 304 931 5 844 675

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference on 
provision for staff bonus

 525 494 (388 004)

Taxable/(deductible) temporary difference on Ac-
cumulated Accruals-Finance

  

158 802 -

Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference on 
ATM provision  - -

13 047 768 9 167 254
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7. Financial assets at amortised cost 2020

M

2019

M
Treasury Bills 122 973 700 55 120 500

Interest receivable (1 620 300) (1 110 977)

Loss allowance  (2 493 544) (1 479 904)

Treasury Bonds 125 908 500 110 650 000

Discount 1 304 812 1 333 332

Total 246 073 168 164 512 951
Gross amount

Split  between current and non- current portions:

248 566 712 165 992 855

Current Asset 118 859 856 52 529 619

Non-current asset 127 213 312 111 983 332

Total 246 073 168 164 512 951
Treasury bills disclosed matures within one year.

Treasury bills are securities issued by Central Bank on behalf of Government of Lesotho. 
Treasury bills are issued at discount and mature within 12 months, thus there  are 91 days,-
182days, 273 days and 365 days treasury bills. The Bank buys and holds the securities to 
maturity. The face value of treasury bills at year end, inclusive of interest receivable were 
M122 973 700 and M 55 120 500 for 31st December 2020 and 2019  respectively. This is as 
a result of the Bank re-positioning its investment portfolio during the COVID–19 pandemic 
by reducing holding in other asset classes to more liquid assets.  

Treasury bonds are capital market instruments issued by the Central Bank of Lesotho on be-
half of the Government of Lesotho. The Central Bank issued 3, 7 and 10  years’ bonds. Just 
like treasury bills, the Bank buys and holds bonds to maturity. The par value of the bonds 
as at 31st December 2020 and 2019 were M125 908 500 and M110 650 000 respectively. 
Coupon payments are made semi-annually. 
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Treasury bills and bonds expected credit loss were as follows:

2020
ECL_DEC_2020 Number of instruments ECL amount ECL rates
Treasury bills 35 1 229 737 49,3%

Treasury bonds 6 1 263 807 50,7%

Grand Total 41 2 493 544 100%

2019
ECL_DEC_2019 Number of instruments ECL amount ECL rates
current 8  3 552 0,24%

more than 30 days 8  21 163 1,43%

more than 60 days 4  8 139 0,55%

*more than 120 days 42 1 447 050 97,78%

Grand Total 62 1 479 904 100,00%

*Guarantees by Bank expected credit loss were as follows:

2020

ECL_DEC_2020 Number of instruments ECL amount ECL rates
Bank guarantee 1           2 780 10,1%

Bid guarantee 18         11 420 41,6%

Demand guarantee 1           2 460 9,0%

Performance bond 7         10 791 39,3%

Grand Total 27 27 451 100,0%

ECL for treasury bills, bonds and guarantees by bank were not calculated according to 
any staging as per the loan portfolio. This is because the bank used 1 staging criteria 
(days in arrears) which would not apply to treasury bills and bonds. However, the following 
assumptions in terms of the LGD and the PD were made:

1.  Fitch has classified Lesotho rated as a B Sovereign Nation. As a result, the overall default 
rate of the nation stood at B for both 2019 and 2020 accordingly.

2.  By their nature, guarantees do not have enough historical data of credit risk drivers to 
enable any meaningful modelling. For this purpose, a simplified approach was adopted and 
accepted by the Bank where the Average Business PD is 32.7% and the minimum LGD of 5% 
is set by the standard.

On average, banks’ risk weight for central government exposures (including both domestic 
and foreign currency exposures) under the standardised approach is currently about 3%. 

The Bank took a decision to adopt a 1% risk weight for the purposes of calculating IFRS 9 
ECL for treasury bonds and treasury bills because the element of risk has not changed from 
2019 which was still 1%.
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8. Inventories

(Relates to printing and statio-
nery)

2020

M

2019

M

Stock held 859 136 777 339

9. Trade and other Receivables
Financial instruments:

Outstanding recoveries 1 231 226 1 021 057

Fees accrued for agency banking 760 000 760 000

Accrued interest receivable 3 392 376 2 944 884

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Other receivables have no signifi-
cant financing component and as such they have no expected credit loss impairment.

Non-financial instruments:

Withholding tax on investments -        2 292 076

Prepayments 7 032 935 3 685 855

Total Trade and other Receivables 12 416 537 10 703 872

Split  between non-current and 
current positions

Current Assets 12 416 537 10 703 872

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with IFRS 9:

Financial Instruments:

At amortised cost 5 383 602 4 725 941

Non-financial instruments 7 032 935 5 977 931

Total Trade and other Receivables 12 416 537 10 703 872

Fair value of Trade and other Receivables

The fair value of trade receivables approximates their carrying amounts.
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10. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The investment in Norsad was granted to Lesotho PostBank in 2011 by the Lesotho Govern-
ment. The investment is denominated in US Dollar. Investment held by the Bank which are 
measured at fair value, excluding debts instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are as follows:

Fair value hierarchy

When determining the Norsad fair value the Bank uses Norsad financials, to compute fair val-
ue of ordinary shares in USD, which is equity of Norsad finance excluding preference shares 
and thereafter, the fair value of the Bank’s holding in Norsad finance is determined in USD. 
Furthermore, the determined fair value is converted into Maloti, using the foreign exchange 
rates as determined by South African Reserve Bank’s at the reporting date. This judgement 
is considered the most suitable, since Norsad shares does not have active market.

Level 3-fair value hierarchy
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for assets or liability.

Recurring fair value measure-
ments December 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets M M M M
Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (OCI)

- - (81 994) (81 994)

Recurring fair value measure-
ments 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets M M M M
Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (OCI)

- - 3 604 056 3 604 056

2020 2019
M M

Cost at inception 28 237 233 28 237 233

Fair value gain/(Loss) 24 390 133 23 688 140

Total 52 627 366 51 925 373

Categorisation of investments at fair value according to IFRS 9 
Financial instruments



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

109

Designation at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income
Norsad Finance (406 share) 52 627 366 51 925 373

52 627 366 51 925 373
Split between non-current and 
current portions

Current assets 52 627 366 51 925 373

Risk exposure

The investments held by the Bank expose it to various risks, including credit risk, interest 
rate risk and foreign currency risk. Refer to note 3 Financial instruments and risk manage-
ment for details of risk exposure and the processes and policies adopted to mitigate these 
risks.

11. Loans and advances

Loans and advances are presented at amortised cost, which is net 
of loss allowance, as follows:

2020 

M

2019

M

Loans and advances 859 652 411 707 748 171

Split between non-current and current assets:

Current assets                 43 082 042 35 387 409

Non-current assets               816 570 369 672 360 763

859 652 411 707 748 171

The table below shows Loans and advances per sector:

2020

Sectors  Principal outstanding Expected credit loss Amortised 
cost 

Agriculture, hunting, forestry & 
fishing

22 188 001
2 058 145 20 129 856 

Business services 32 003 529 2 727 713 29 275 816 
Communication 727 778  11 710  716 068 
Community, social & personal 
services

2 773 112
 106 750 2 666 362 

Construction 12 917 175 1 575 754 11 341 421 
Electricity, gas & water 725 000   91  724 909 
Manufacturing 5 235 630  441 773 4 793 857 
Individual micro finance 8 042 622  342 636 7 699 986 
Mining & quarrying 252 165  162 448  89 717 
Non-salaried individual 17 179 531 1 246 797 15 932 734 
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Others 137 917  32 713  105 204 
Real estate 314 216  110 595  203 621 
Restaurants & hotels (hospitality) 24 204 589 1 935 307 22 269 282 
Salaried individual 686 741 498 18 822 646 667 918 852 
Transport 59 155 790 2 730 880 56 424 910 
Wholesale & retail 16 530 052 1 259 493 15 270 559 
 Total 889 128 604 33 565 451 855 563 154 

2019

Sectors
 Principal outstanding Expected credit 

loss 
Amortised cost 

Agriculture, hunting, 
forestry & fishing 2 610 581  106 787 2 503 793 

Business services 9 397 540  384 412 9 013 128 

Community, social & 
personal 1 993 506  81 546 1 911 960 

Construction 3 984 538  162 990 3 821 548 

Manufacturing 11 170 669  456 943 10 713 726 

Individual micro fi-
nance 4 000 443  163 640 3 836 802 

Mining & quarrying 1 546 984  63 280 1 483 703 

Non-salaried individual 14 641 585  598 923 14 042 663 

Others  179 383  7 338  172 045 

Real estate  351 706  14 387  337 320 

Restaurants & hotels 9 756 457  399 094 9 357 364 

Salaried individual 625 706 767 25 594 906 600 111 862 

Transport 18 210 261  744 902 17 465 360 

Wholesale & retail 8 776 394  359 004 8 417 390 

TOTAL            712 326 815         29 138 150      683 188 665

The table below shows Loans and advances per product:

2020

Product  Outstanding principal 
Expected credit          

loss  Amortised cost 

Agric long term loan 6 368 418 1 269 084 5 099 334 

Agric short term loan 7 757 364  931 063 6 826 301 

Business loan 39 199 403 5 686 360 33 513 043 

Commercial property loan 18 008 214 1 639 998 16 368 216 

Commercial vehicle loan 64 654 390 2 550 070 62 104 320 

Home loan 23 780 055 1 622 620 22 157 435 

Loan against collateral  256 035  5 404  250 631 

Medium term loan 644 416 952 16 658 119 627 758 833 

Micro term loan  849 424  41 052  808 372 

Secured supplier finance 18 647 587 1 011 933 17 635 654 



Integrated Report

Driving Sound Administration

111

Short term loan 2 155 597  31 592 2 124 005 

Staff loan 30 598 024  891 861 29 706 163 

Unsecured supplier finance  44 345  4 125  40 220 

Vehicle finance 3 777 362  105 281 3 672 081 

Overdrafts 28 615 435 1 116 890 27 498 545 

Total 889 128 605 33 565 451 855 563 154 

2019

Product  Outstanding principal 
 Expected credit 

loss  Amortised cost 

Business loan              33 981 115           3 762 567         30 218 548 

Micro term loan                    893 033                14 559              878 474 

Medium term loan            605 093 750         19 914 953      585 178 797 

Simple interest loan                      12 120                   7 392                   4 728 

Commercial property loan                 6 637 074              251 214           6 385 860 

Home loan              11 714 374              171 173         11 543 201 

Staff loan              27 357 528              911 772         26 445 756 

Vehicle finance                 2 260 434              353 913           1 906 521 

Commercial vehicle finance              15 809 761           2 764 698         13 045 063 

Secured supplier finance                 5 152 041              598 713           4 553 328 

Loan against collateral                    589 530                18 144              571 386 

Unsecured supplier finance                        2 884                   1 384                   1 500 

Agric long term loan                 1 488 737              316 037           1 172 700 

Agric short term loan                    702 596                36 928              665 668 

Short term loan                    631 838                14 703              617 135 

Total            712 326 815         29 138 150      683 188 665 

2020 Outstanding Principal Total ECL Amortised Cost

Retail                   707 748 982 21 798 900 685 950 082 
Business                   181 379 623 11 766 551 169 613 072 
Total                   889 128 605 33 565 451 855 563 154 

2019 Outstanding Principal Total ECL Amortised Cost

Retail 656 564 390 23 161 524            633 402 866
Business 55 762 425 5 976 626            49 785 799
Total            712 326 815         29 138 150      683 188 665

The table below shows Vehicle and asset finance:
Gross balance Unearned interest Net balance

Receivable within one year 532 540 6 400 526 140

Receivable within two to five years 67 782 614  509 724 67 272 889 

Above 5 years  633 829  1 106  632 723 

Total 68 948 982  517 230 68 431 752 

Credit rating framework

Management determines the credit rating grades of each loan at the end of reporting period. These 
ratings are determined either externally through rating agencies or internally where external ratings 
are not available.

The table below shows Loans and advances per customer category:
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Staging criteria Lower 
bound 
to upper 
bound

Actual principal outstanding Actual expected credit 
loss

Description

2020 2019 2020 2019

Stage 1

(performing)

0 to 30 848 406 398 675 905 316 19 326 322  14 077 663 Assets that are considered as performing. 
It includes financial instruments that have 
not had significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition or that have low 
credit risk at the reporting date. For these 
assets,12-months expected credit losses 
(ECL) are recognised. 

Stage2

(performing)

31 to 90 21 366 730 12 256 925  3 745 714 2 768 989 Assets that are considered underperforming 
(that is there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since the time they were 
originally recognised but do not have 
objective evidence of impairment). For 
these assets lifetime expected credit losses 
that result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of the financial 
instrument are recognised.

Stage 3 

(nonperforming 
and therefore 
impaired)

91 to 
infinite

19 396 046 24 164 574 10 493 416 12 291 498 Assets that are considered non-performing 
and therefore impaired. These assets 
have demonstrated objective evidence of 
impairment at the reporting date. Lifetime 
expected credit losses are recognised for 
financial assets that fall into this category. 

Total 889 169 174 712 326 816 33 565 452 29 138 150
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Credit loss 
allowances 2020

Instrument
Basis of loss 
allowance

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost

Loan and 
advances

Life ECL (credit 
Impaired)

893 206 794 (33 565 451) 859 641 343

Modified loans 
and advances                                 

Life ECL (credit 
impaired)      

 14 167 732 (531 000)                           13 636 732

2019
Instrument Basis of loss 

allowance
Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost

Loan and 
advances

Life ECL (credit 
Impaired)

736 886 321 (29 138 150) 707 748 171

Fair value of loans receivable is approximately their carrying amounts

Expected credit loss reconciliation 2020                                                                                                                           
M
Opening balance (29 138 150)

Impairment loss (4 427 301)

Closing balance (33 565 451)

Expected credit loss reconciliation 2019                                                                                                                           
M
Opening balance (24 801 072)

Impairment loss (4 337 078)

Closing balance (29 138 150)
The loan book stood at M893.2 million as at 31 December 2020, showing a 21.2% growth 
from M736.9 million in 2019. YOY increase was due to introduction of vehicle asset finance 
in the current year.

12. Cash and cash equivalents 2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: M M
Cash and other cash items 34 986 161 28 424 903

Balance with foreign banks 287 700 761 213 517 077

Balance with Central Bank 42 630 622 50 575 922

Balance with local Banks 137 344 923 86 645 389

Total 502 662 467 379 163 291
Cash and cash equivalents held by the entity that are not 
available for use by the Bank.

42 630 622 50 575 922
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Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, 
excluding cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are 
neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if 
available) or historical information about counterparty default rates:

Credit ratings
AAA (Central Bank, RSA banks and Lesotho Banks) 467 676 306 350 738 388

Cash and other cash items 34 986 161 28 424 903

Total cash at the end of the year 502 662 467 379 163 291

Cash Flow from financing activities
Principal elements of lease payment (2 253 732) (1 014 638)

Net cash flows from financing activities (2 253 732) (1 014 638)
Total cash movement for the year 123 499 176 20 277 788

Cash at the beginning of the year 379 163 291 358 885 503

Total cash at the end of the year 502 662 467 379 163 291

Exposure to credit risk
Maloti amount
Maloti 502 662 467 379 163 291

13. Share capital and reserves
Authorised
20 000 000 fully paid Ordinary share of M1 each 20 000 000 20 000 000

Issued
20 000 000 fully paid ordinary share of M1 each 20 000 000 20 000 000

Share premium 17 000 000 17 000 000

Total 37 000 000 37 000 000

Statutory reserves 37 000 000 36 733 975

Norsad revaluation reserve 3 256 037 3 604 056

Total 40 256 037 40 338 031
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14.  Trade and other payables 2020 2019

Financial Instruments M M

Other payables 3 889 323 2 925 627

Creditors 3 448 335 1 366 132

Non- Financial Instruments

Credit life cover payables 1 388 034 1 866 254

Mobile wallet funding 170 722 362 587

Banking Agent fees 25 144 124 438

Provision for legal fees 5 400 403 5 400 403

Overtime provisions 95 854 870 622

Accrued leave pay 1 051 805 757 881

Bonus provisions 4 222 648 2 120 670

Accruals for gratuity 4 926 251 3 383 107

Fringe benefit tax payable 458 312 419 408

Accruals finance 1 359 044 -

PAYE and withholding tax payable 1 594 108 2 253 651

28 029 984 21 850 781

Splitting between current and non-current 
liabilities:

Current liabilities 2 052 420 2 673 059

Non-current liabilities 25 977 564 19 177 722

28 029 984                  21 850 781

The net carrying amount, in Maloti, of trade and other payables, excluding non-financial 
instruments, are denominated in the following currencies. The amount has been present-
ed in Maloti by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting 
date.

Fair value of trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying value.
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15. Capital Grant 2020 2019
Non-current liabilities M M
Unutilised Government grant at year end is not recognised 
in the income statement until all the conditions of the grant 
have been met.

Unutilised Government grant
Opening balance - 18 757 169

Grant Utilised
Government grant utilised for capital project - (15 885 331)

Government grant utilised for Project operating expenses - (2 871 838)

- -

The portion of the Government grant that is utilised for the purchase of assets is recognised 
as a liability (deferred income) and is recognised in the income statement at the same rate 
as the depreciation for the fixed assets.

Unrealised Capital Expenditure
Opening balance capital Grant 89 640 147 84 316 995

Grants received - 15 885 331

Prior year adjustment - 612 073

Unwinding to profit and loss in line with depreciation and 
amortisation

(11 241 026) (11 007 613)

Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment (carrying value 
realised) (90 890)

(166 638)

Deferred income 78 308 233 89 640 147

Split between current and non-current liabilities:

Current liability 10 813 999 11 241 026

Non-current liability 67 494 234           78 399 
121

Total 78 308 233 89 640 147
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16. Deposits

         2020 2019

Deposits Within 12 Months After 12 Months Grand Total Within 12 Months After 12 Months Grand Total

Demand deposit 1 073 131 357 - 1 073 131 357 863 619 525 - 863 619 525

Term deposit 157 581 218 141 788 041 299 369 259 10 628 008 173 087 141 183 715 149

Total 1 230 712 575 141 788 041 1 372 500 616 874 247 533 173 087 141 1 047 334 674
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17. Capital Grant income 2020 2019
M M

Capital Grant income 11 331 915 13 433 682

18. Fees and commission

Fees and commission 63 523 748 47 040 872

19. Other income

Bad debts recovered 2 542 708 344 363

Gain on foreign exchange rate  783 987                       -

3 326 695 344 363

20. Net Interest Income

Interest Income
Cash and Short-term funds 17 974 020 19 067 778

Financial assets at amortised cost 17 296 639 13 251 157

Loans and advances 135 655 189 139 532 682

Total Interest Income 170 925 848 171 851 618

Interest expense
Saving deposits (8 730 820) (2 436 569)

Term deposits (16 637 007) (17 552 327)

Total Interest Income (25 367 827) (19 988 896)

Net Interest Income 145 558 020 151 862 722
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21. Operating profit (loss)
Profit/(loss) before taxation for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the fol-
lowing, amongst others:

2020 2019
M M

Auditor’s remuneration – external 1 283 328 803 711

Expenses by nature:

Employee costs 68 597 007 59 492 739

Rent  567 249 855 311

Depreciation and Amortisation 15 996 744 11 786 046

Staff welfare 1 335 701 917 539

Security 2 740 174 2 228 806

Advertising 1 643 268 2 773 849

Promotions  647 701 2 244 062

Sponsorship  635 557 1 587 842

Licence fees 15 686 808 12 061 351

Expected credit loss allowance 5 468 044 4 236 563

Transportation and Valuables 2 569 216 1 908 811

Travel local 1 487 708 2 258 056

Training  680 054 2 852 880

Insurance 1 044 245 816 961

Printing and stationery 3 029 599 2 558 129

Communication expense 5 059 518 3 511 414

Loans written off 18 593 689 11 010 442

Directors fees 1 868 341 1 293 554

Water and electricity 1 609 369 1 521 086

Other assets repairs and maintenance 1 692 779 1 444 349

Minor Equipment 1 075 936 1 719 503

Office Supplies  646 814 935 156

Consultancy Fees 2 530 669 2 026 818

Fringe benefit Tax 1 802 054 1 607 652

Motor Vehicle fuel expenses  299 649 406 287

Foreign exchange loss - 1 265 087

Motor Vehicle maintenance 390 299 291 325

Subscriptions 695 107 803 718

Operational Losses 801 016 679 278

Other expenses 3 566 045 2 766 370

Total Operating and administrative expenses 162 760 358 139 860 984
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22. Income tax expense
2020 2019

M M
Current

Local income tax –current period 15 690 490 16 581 817

Deferred 
Provision for staff bonus (525 495) 388 004

Leave provision (73 481) 758

Property, Plant and Equipment (1 304 931) (5 844 675)

Loan impairment provision (1 367 098) (2 366 585)

Accumulated Accruals-Finance (158 802) -

Audit fee provision (64 923) 17 000

Gratuity provision (385 786) 393 099

        (3 880 516) (7 412 398)
        11 809 974 9 169 419

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax ex-
pense;

Accounting profit 60 980 020 72 820 655

Capital grant adjustment (11 331 915) (13 433 682)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2019:25%) 12 412 026 14 846 743

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income (per Tax 
Calculation) (602 052)

(5 677 324)

      11 809 974 9 169 419

 

23. Cash Used in operations 

 2020 2019
M M

Profit Before Taxation: 60 980 020 72 820 655

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 15 996 744 11 786 046

Interest received
(170 925 848))

(171 851 
618)

Finance Cost 25 367 827 19 988 896

Net miscellaneous   125 813 -
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Provision for overtime 115 958 -

Revaluation gain/(Loss) - (165 057)

Bond Discount (514 197) (339 000)

Expected credit loss allowance 5 440 593 4 236 563

Unwinding of grants (non-cash) (11 331 915) (13 433 682)

(Profit)/Loss on foreign exchange differences (783 987) 1 265 086

Loss on sale of assets  90 890 235 003

Changes in working Capital:
Inventories (81 797) (7 329)

Trade and other receivables (1 712 665) 1 703 450

Trade and other payables 6 179 204 1 805 035

(71 053 359) (71 955 951)

24.Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year (139 384) (7 629 913)

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (15 690 490) (16 581 817)

Balance at end of the year 2 033 994 (139 384)

(13 795 881) (24 351 115)
25.   Leases 

2020

M

2019

M

Right of 
Use As-
sets

Cost or 

revalua-
tion

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or 

revalua-
tion

Accumulat-
ed 

deprecia-
tion

Carrying 
value

Office 
equipment

 2 507 937  (2 382 540)  125 397  2 507 937  (1 880 953)  626 984 

Building  8 563 632  (2 106 457)  6 457 175  5 885 840  (629 470)  5 256 370 

Total  11 071 569  (4 488 997)  6 582 572  8 393 777  (2 510 423)  5 883 354 

Reconciliation of Right of 
Use Assets- 2020

Opening 
balance

Additions Depreciation Total

Office equipment  626 984 -  (501 587)  125 397 

Building  5 256 370  2 677 792  (1 476 987)  6 457 175 

Total  5 883 354  2 677 792  (1 978 574)  6 582 572 

Reconciliation of Right of 
Use Assets- 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Depreciation Total

Office equipment 1 128 572 - (501 587)  626 984 

Building 398 361 5 168 790 (310 780)  5 256 370 

Total 1 526 933 5 168 790 (812 368)  5 883 354 
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Amount recognised in balance sheet
2020

M

                 2019 

                      M             

Right of Use Assets

Office equipment               125 397              626 984 

Buildings         6 457 175 5 256 370

 Total 6 582 572 5 883 355

Lease liability

Current                  1 527 
064 

1 857 644

Non-current                 5 907 
002 

4 230 679

Total 7 434 066 6 088 323

Amount recognised in statement of profit or loss  

Depreciation charge on Right of Use As-
sets                                                         

2020

M                                                

2019

M

Office equipment             501 587 

                    

501 587 

Buildings          1 476 987 

                    

310 781 

Total 1 978 574 812 369

Interest expense leases

Office equipment                          82 707 

                    

135 463 

Buildings                        838 976 

                      

25 136 

Total 921 684 160 600

There is one lease agreement that has automatic renewal clause accounted under IFRS 16 
lease which is currently in place.
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Leased Item Lease term Renewal periods
Office equipment 01/04/2016 

      to 

31/03/2021

Not applicable

Building 1 01/12/2019 

        to

30/11/2022

3 years

Building 2 01/09/2017

      to 

31/08/2027

Not applicable

Rent expenses 2020

M

2019

M
Lease expenses of low value                 567 249                    418 002 

Lease of unspecified period
                                  

-   

                    

437 308 

Treated under IFRS 16 Leases           2 253 732                               -   

Total 2 820 982 855 311

Commitments

The above figures show rent paid in 2020 and 2019 as of 31st December for both expenses 
of low value and IFRS 16 leases.

Lease Commitments/minimum lease payments due 

-within one year                         179 
369                      76 533 

- in second to fifth year inclusive                349 229                              -   

Total               528 598                     76 533 

The Bank has entered into various non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have 
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The future aggregate minimum lease pay-
ments are as follows:

Minimum lease payments due under IFRS 16
- within one year 2 084 806                 1 868 208 

- in second to fifth year inclusive       7 407 004                 6 412 952 

Total 9 491 809                 8 281 160 
 

The above figures show rent commitments payable within a year and beyond as at 31st 
December 2020 and 2019 for both expenses of low value and IFRS 16 leases.
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26. Related parties

Relationships:

Shareholders                                                                           Government of Lesotho

                                                                                                       

Related Entities                                                        Government of Lesotho (100% shareholding)

                                                                                         Lesotho Postal Services

                                                                                         Central Bank of Lesotho  

                                                                                         Lesotho Revenue Authority

Related party balances

Balance with related parties 2020 2019

Central Bank of Lesotho (Treasury Bills) 122 973 700 55 120 500

Central Bank of Lesotho (Treasury Bonds) 125 908 500 110 650 000

Central Bank of Lesotho (Reserve Account) 42 630 622 50 575 922

Related party transactions
Interest paid to (received from) related 
parties
Central Bank of Lesotho (17 296 639) (13 251 157)

Lease paid to related party
Lesotho Postal Services 489 308 388 719

Tax paid to related party
Lesotho Revenue Authority                           13 795 881      24 351 115

27. Director’s emoluments

Executive 2020 Emoluments Short-term 
benefits

Total

M. Leqhaoe (Managing Director) 1 260 000 678 933 1 938 933

M. Mahooana (Chief Operations Officer) 766 055 267 638 1 033 693

M. Morake (Chief Financial Officer) 653 462 233 860 887 323

R. Makara (Corporate Secretary) 576 417 210 747 787 164 

3 255 934 1 391 178 4 647 112

Executive 2019 Emoluments Short-term 
benefits

Total

M. Leqhaoe (Managing Director) 1 193 736 627 080 1 820 816
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Non-executive 2020 Directors’ 
fee

Committees 
fees

Total

L. Mokotjo 281 524 46 857 328 380

M. Sekhants’o 168 835 91 185 260 020

L. Mpotjoane 200 155 63 325 263 480

R. Likhang 143 778 63 318 207 096 

M. Matela-Mphana 145 568 71 552 217 120 

R. Mathule 175 099 53 823 228 922 

Executive 2020
M. Leqhaoe 93 963 - 93 963

M. Mahooana 81 434 - 81 434

M. Morake 93 963 - 93 963

R. Makara 93 963 - 93 963

1 478 281 390 060 1 868 341

Non-executive 2019 Directors’ 
fee

Committees 
fees

Total

L. Mokotjo                 ( 01/07/2016 to date) 379 581 81 851 461 432

M. Sekhants’o           (01/07/2016 to date) 164 096 72 202 236 298

L. Mpotjoane             (10/02/2019 to date) 142 002 41 402 183 404

R. Likhang                  (12/08/2019 to date) 41 761 13 870 55 632

M. Matela-Mphana (12/08/2019 to date) 47 761 34 376 82 103

R. Mathule                (02/09/2019 to date) 41 761 9 649 51 410

D. Plaatjies                (13/10/2016 to 
17/09/2019)

34 026 26 370 60 396

M. Makeka                (01/12/2018 to 
22/03/2019)

104 732 58 148 162 880

955 686 337 868 1 293 554

28. Events after the reporting period
The Directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date 
and up to the date of this report.

29. Reclassifications

The Bank has disclosed Right of Use Assets separate from Property, Plant and Equipment 
in current year as compared to the prior year where they were combined in statement of 
financial position. The aim of separation is for better analysis.
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          Social and Relationship Capital

LPB aims to have good corporate citizenship by meaningfully contributing to the development of 
our society, building sustainable community relationships and trust, and creating value that has a 
transformational impact in the lives of ordinary Basotho. Appositely, our focus is on undertaking 
financial inclusion activities for the unbanked and underbanked. As the only Basotho Bank, LPB 
prides itself in providing financial education to communities, especially in the rural areas to reach 
the most excluded end of the Basotho market. Reaching out to consumers at the right time with 
financial education resources helps us connect and build trust. In addition, we help solve problems 
in our customers’ lives, which are caused by financial illiteracy, with a mutual benefit of  creating 
future knowledgeable customers for the Bank.

The Bank was able to remain 
connected to its stakeholders and 
even build new client relationships 
in the deep season of COVID-19. This 
included the acquisition of a client in 
the brewery industry.
In addition, we engage in CSI  
initiatives to drive socio-economic 
growth by building relationships 
with stakeholders, communities, 
institutions, and clients. This has 
the dual effect of granting us our 
social licence to operate and grow 
in service of every Mosotho, as well 
as assisting us in building goodwill in 
our value creation.

Through our strategy and our CSI policy, we can meaningfully engage with the community. The 
biggest challenge in executing community outreach programs in 2020 was the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. However, we managed to provide support to over 20 initiatives in sectors 
including education, cultural activities, agriculture, health, Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
(MSME’s).

Moreover, our Bank sponsors the Lesotho PostBank League, having about M1.2 million funded over 
a 3-year cycle. This aims to empower talented youth in our country, who might otherwise struggle 
to find decent work and access economic opportunities. The Bank believes in strengthening non-
formal economic opportunities and providing financial literacy to individuals in those economic 
segments. Therefore, the Bank is committed to assisting clubs with financial education alongside 
the development of local football.
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The graph below shows the CSI budget spread in 2020:

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

Our Bank is dedicated to supporting 
sustainability of our surrounding 
communities. We increased our 
community upliftment initiatives in 
the wake of COVID-19’s impact. The 
sustainable development goals are a 
guiding beacon with which our efforts 
can be mapped. A large percentage of 
the initiatives and budget was dedicated 
towards advancing the following 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG’s): 
No Poverty and Zero Hunger (29%); Good 
Health and Well-Being (17%); and Quality 
Education (17%).

SDG 2 – Zero Hunger

In the agricultural sector, we supported the Lesotho Wool 
and Mohair Growers Association with livestock medicines and 
salts for farmers during district shows held in Mokhotlong, 
Mohale’s Hoek, Leribe and Maseru. We also participated in 
the SILO agriculture EXPO and various agriculture forums 
nationally. Our projects included purchasing wheelchairs 
and food parcels for four (4) families at Mokhethoaneng, 
food parcels and cosmetics to the Reitumetse Church Project 
Elderly at Mazenod, and the disabled at Hlotse.
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SDG 4 – Quality Education 

In the education sector, we supported various career expos and fairs. We also provided financial 
education to students.  SDG 4 seeks to “ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and 
promote lifelong learning opportunities for all”. Through career 
expos and fairs, pupils learn about various careers that are open to 
them and this broadens the scope of exposure for students with 
rural backgrounds, who may otherwise learn of such career paths at 
a much later stage in life when the fervour of youth has run almost 
dry. In enabling access for students with less exposure, the Bank 
advances inclusive and equitable quality education, so that exposure 
to lucrative and uncommon career paths is not reserved for only 
students from privileged backgrounds.

SDG 8 – Decent Work and Economic Growth

The business sector was supported with interest free funding as a 
business relief measure for MSMEs during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The Bank advanced SDG 8’s outcome target of universal access to 
banking and financial services by providing highly affordable access 
to finance for MSMEs during COVID-19 when a lot of MSMEs could 
possibly face financial distress.

We also distributed street vendor umbrellas to selected street 
vendors, nationally.  These efforts were targeted at promoting safer working environments for 
the street vendors during Lesotho’s weather conditions.

LPB indeed had a return on investment as we managed to gain more small business accounts 
(Ntataise), short-term loan applications and brand visibility.

While most businesses ceased several campaign efforts, our Marketing team re-directed focus to 
address social issues affecting our customers. We re-directed our campaigns to digital financial 
education. This was targeted at aligning our marketing with national recommendations to reduce 
the physical handling of money. To this end, the Bank provided customers with internet banking 
and mobile banking solutions and drove campaigns promoting these COVID-19 solutions.

Beyond 2020
We aim to enhance digital education to create awareness about alternative products available to 
customers. We increased our touch points i.e. merchants, mobile money agents, and ATMs. The 
Bank aims at achieving deeper rural presence through community engagements in rural areas. We 
intend to enhance our financial education regarding savings and investments as a precautionary 
measure to guard against emergencies such as COVID-19. The Bank has undertaken a pricing 
review and will adjust prices accordingly. However, the Bank remains the most affordable bank 
for our nation.

Additionally, we aim to widen focus on agriculture, empowering youth through our continuing 
apprenticeship programme with the Ministry of Finance, and looking into various ways of 
expanding our SDG aligned impact. COVID-19 increased food insecurity in our landlocked nation. 
Lesotho was detrimentally affected by a heavy reliance on limited South African agricultural 
supplies during border closures. We, therefore, intend to empower our local farmers for larger 
scale production. We further have our eye on driving SDG 13 -  Climate Action. Particularly, we will 
support climate-friendly activities for the growth of sustainable businesses in our communities.
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Beyond 2020

We aim to enhance digital education to create awareness about alternative products available to 
customers. We increased our touch points i.e. merchants, mobile money agents, and ATMs. The 
Bank aims at achieving deeper rural presence through community engagements in rural areas. We 
intend to enhance our financial education regarding savings and investments as a precautionary 
measure to guard against emergencies such as COVID-19. The Bank has undertaken a pricing 
review and will adjust prices accordingly. However, the Bank remains the most affordable bank 
for our nation.

Additionally, we aim to widen focus on agriculture, empowering youth through our continuing 
apprenticeship programme with the Ministry of Finance, and looking into various ways of 
expanding our SDG aligned impact. COVID-19 increased food insecurity in our landlocked nation. 
Lesotho was detrimentally affected by a heavy reliance on limited South African agricultural 
supplies during border closures. We, therefore, intend to empower our local farmers for larger 
scale production. We further have our eye on driving SDG 13 -  Climate Action. Particularly, we will 
support climate-friendly activities for the growth of sustainable businesses in our communities.
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          Natural Capital

We aim to conduct our business activities and operations with less impact on the environment. In 
the past, the Bank had started the following initiatives and should reinforce them in 2021:

• Tracking and monitoring of paper usage through a printing management software that 
  implements duplex printing, acceptable paper usage quotas, secure print release and print 
 billing if necessary;
• Deliberate drive to use technology for a paperless environment and reduction in energy  
 consumption at Mafike House;
• Safe disposal of electronic waste; 
• Sponsorship, lending and choosing suppliers with green policies.

Combined Assurance

Combined assurance is driven by our Risk Cluster, which comprises of the risk, compliance, 
governance, and internal audit functions. The principal mandate of the Risk Cluster is to embed 
a good risk culture throughout the Bank utilizing the expertise in their different departmental 
functions. 

We aim to synergize efforts from our risk, compliance, governance, and internal audit functions to 
achieve harmonized, efficient, and robust assurance approach. The relevant departments ensure 
that the Bank operates within its risk appetite as well as the risk parameters set by our regulators.

Risks and Opportunities

Like any other organisation, in execution of its strategic goals and objectives, and in taking 
business opportunities, Lesotho PostBank faces different risk types. It is paramount to avoid, 
accept, reduce/control, or transfer risks as appropriate.

The Executive Committee and its risk-specific Sub-Committees

The Executive Committee (EXCO) has subcommittees tasked with assisting in  technical activities 
within different functions. Amongst these, it has five (5) risk-specific subcommittees. The 
Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is mainly responsible for balance sheet management 
and management of market risk. The Credit Committee is mainly responsible for credit risk 
management through managing the Bank’s loan portfolio. The Operations Committee (OPSCO) 
is mainly responsible for Information Technology risks. The Finance Committee (FC) is mainly 
responsible for financial risks. The Risk Committee (RISCO) is mainly responsible for enterprise 
risk management.

Three Lines of Assurance Model

The Bank uses the generic three lines of assurance governance model. It is utilized commensurate 
with the Bank’s maturity to promote transparency, accountability, and consistency in identifying, 
monitoring, and reporting risks. The functions are independent but collaborate to provide 
Combined Assurance to Management and the Board.
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Our Risks
For the year 2020, the Bank’s risk status was as follows

Most of these risks were accelerated by the unexpected COVID-19 pandemic. The Bank took 
urgent risk response strategies to contain their dire impact.

RISK BEHAVIOUR DURING COVID-19 PANDEMIC (from March 2020)

The COVID-19 pandemic emerged from nowhere and put the world at 
standstill; Lesotho was not an exception. The pandemic had a direct 
impact on both strategic and operational perspectives of the Bank. The 
Bank pulled from all quarters to effect corrective measures to keep its 
operations up and running. The Top 5 risks tabulated below took an upward 
direction. In response, the Bank implemented appropriate risk response 
strategies as indicated below:

Credit risk

Business Customers who were affected by lockdown were given payment holidays to enable them 
to give their business a chance to recover post-lockdown.Additionally, loans were restructured in 
order to assist clients survive the COVID-19 impact on their businesses. Thanks to these measures, 
our credit portfolio was not negatively affected by the economic stress that was experienced 
during this time. 

Liquidity risk

Besides the normal regulatory liquidity requirements, the Bank kept a close eye on liquidity 
requirements and kept enough buffers to cater for possible unplanned liquidity requirements 
(customers’ requirements). We did not experience any liquidity stress during this time.

Cyber risk

During the time when majority of employees were working remotely, the Bank introduced the use 
of approved and secured Virtual Private Network (VPN). Only authorised persons could access 
bank systems remotely.

Business disruption

A formal COVID-19 Crisis Response Plan was developed and implemented. Further, confirmation of 
existence of business continuity plans from key vendors were sought/confirmed with all vendors 
who support the Bank’s critical operations.

Pre-COVID-19 (January to February 2020) During COVID-19 (March to December 2020)

1. Credit risk 1. People and Operational risk

2. Liquidity risk 2. Business disruption

3. People and Operational risk 3. Liquidity risk

4. Cyber risk 4. Credit risk 

5. Business disruption 5. Cyber risk
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Compliance

Compliance is conducted through ensuring AML compliance, regulatory compliance, and non-
regulatory compliance. Constructive relationships are maintained with the Regulator and other 
stakeholders. This year, compliance monitoring was conducted through onsite/offsite compliance 
testing on preselected units of the Bank.
Compliance was also conducted through: 

• Ensuring submission of TTR and STR on the bank-wide basis AML within prescribed period by the 
Regulator and FIU.
• Collection and analysis of documents to assist in identifying unusual transaction patterns through 
research via available Bank systems and database.
• Conducting preliminary evaluation of suspicious transaction reports and sets grounds for 
reporting if necessary.
• Preparation of suspicious transaction report pertaining to the result of investigation conducted.
• Maintaining constructive relationship with the Regulator and other Stakeholders.
• Ensuring compliance of the Bank with the KYC, reporting and record keeping requirements.
• Monitoring and investigating transactions and accounts for potentially suspicious transactions/
activities identified/flagged by the AML system and escalated by the concerned business. 

Notably, the Bank is embarking on a project to improve AML & CFT compliance by operationalizing 
an AML system that will assist with customer assessment across the necessary range of the 
customer’s transactional life cycle with the Bank. The system will assist assessment from the 
customer on-boarding process to the transactional patterns of the customer.

         Compliance
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The Bank has an Independent in-house Internal Audit function that operatest in terms of an 
approved charter 

Purpose, Authority, and Performance of Internal Audit

Internal Audit’s purpose is to provide independent, risk-based, objective assurance, and related 
advisory services designed to add value and improve the Bank’s operations. 

The Department is headed by Chief Audit Executive who reports functionally to the Audit Risk 
and Compliance Commmitee (ARCCO) Chair and administratively to the Managing Director. 

The risk-based audit plan is presented at the ARCCO for approval. During the year, the plan is re-
viewed and adjusted as necessary, in response to changes in the Bank’s business, risks, controls 
and operations. 

Unquestionably, 2020 was defined by the global coronavirus pandemic. Lockdowns and new 
health protocols inevitably caused immense operational disruption as companies were forced to 
rapidly adjust. As a result, Internal Audit adjusted its plan in the second half of the year to put 
more focus on the Bank’s responsiveness and readiness to the COVID 19 imposed working condi-
tions. In this pursuit, more focus was  on providing advisory on key areas that were mostly affect-
ed by the pandemic, while still providing assurance. In so doing, the department achieved 81% of 
the approved audit plan.

         Internal Audit

Internal 
Audit
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General Information
Registered Name:   Lesotho PostBank Limited
Registration Number:  I2004/163
Auditor:    Moteane, Quashie & Associates Chartered Accountants

Directors: 
L. Mokotjo (Chairperson)
M. Sekhantšo | R. Mathule | M. Matela-Mphana | L. Mpotjoane | R. Likhang
M. Leqhaoe (Managing Director) |M. Mahooana (Executive Director)
M. Morake (Executive Director) | Corporate Secretary: R. Makara

Bankers:  Name       Country

   Standard Lesotho Bank    Lesotho
   First National Bank of Lesotho   Lesotho
   NedBank Lesotho     Lesotho
   StanLib Lesotho     Lesotho
   Allan Gray      South Africa
   First National Bank SA    South Africa
   ABSA       South Africa
   Investec      South Africa
   RMB       South Africa
   SCMB       South Africa
   NedBank SA      South Africa

Website:  www.lpb.co.ls
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The IR Team 

Bokang Mareka - Team Leader

Vusi Mashinini

Nyakallo Notoane

With the support and guidance of the Managing Director and management, these are the faces 
behind the preparation of the report. It was a dedicated effort involving skills from the governance, 
corporate affairs, and strategy personnel who immersed themselves into the goal of producing a 
quality integrated report, which is only the Bank’s second integrated report since IR adoption. We 
hope the effort has hit the mark!




